# Map-assisted Indoor Positioning Utilizing Ubiquitous WiFi Signals



## Xuan Du

School of Computer Science and Electronic Engineering University of Essex

> This thesis is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> > February 2018

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my loving parents ...

## Declaration

I hereby declare that except where specific reference is made to the work of others, the contents of this dissertation are original and have not been submitted in whole or in part for consideration for any other degree or qualification in this, or any other University. This dissertation is the result of my work and includes nothing which is the outcome of work done in collaboration, except where explicitly indicated in the text. This dissertation contains less than 80,000 words including appendices, bibliography, footnotes, tables and equations and has less than 150 figures.

Xuan Du February 2018

## Acknowledgements

First and foremost, enormous gratitude is due to Prof. Kun Yang who has been there as my supervisor for four years and has been unstinting in his support and constructive critique. I also want to thank everyone in the Network Convergence Laboratory for their help and open-minded discussion which inspired me to produce this work. I would like to extend my thanks to those who directly and indirectly offered me support throughout my PhD study. Finally, I am grateful to my parents for their consistent and numerous amounts of support and encouragement throughout my seven-years studies abroad in the United Kingdom.

### Abstract

The demand of indoor positioning solution is on the increase dramatically, and WiFi-based indoor positioning is known as a very promising approach because of the ubiquitous WiFi signals and WiFi-compatible mobile devices. Improving the positioning accuracy is the primary target of most recent works, while the excessive deployment overhead is also a challenging problem behind.

In this thesis, the author is investigating the indoor positioning problem from the aspects of indoor map information and the ubiquity of WiFi signals. This thesis proposes a set of novel WiFi positioning schemes to improve the accuracy and efficiency. Firstly, considering the access point (AP) placement is the first step to deploy indoor positioning system using WiFi, an AP placement algorithm is provided to generate the placement of APs in a given indoor environment. The AP placement algorithm utilises the floor plan information from the indoor map, in which the placement of APs is optimised to benefit the fingerprintingbased positioning. Secondly, the patterns of WiFi signals are observed and deeply analysed from sibling and spatial aspects in conjunction with pathway map from indoor map to address the problem of inconsistent WiFi signal observations. The sibling and spatial signal patterns are used to improve both positioning accuracy and efficiency. Thirdly, an AP-centred architecture is proposed by moving the positioning modules from mobile handheld to APs to facilitate the applications where mobile handheld doesn't directly participate positioning. Meanwhile, the fingerprint technique is adopted into the AP-centred architecture to maintain comparable positioning accuracy. All the proposed works in this thesis are adequately designed, implemented and evaluated in the real-world environment and show improved performance.

**Key words**: indoor positioning, WiFi signal, indoor map, fingerprinting, access point, AP placement, enterprise WiFi, received signal strength, signal pattern, location-based service, deployment efficiency, energy efficiency

## **Table of Contents**

| Li | List of Figures |               |                                                     |     |  |  |  |
|----|-----------------|---------------|-----------------------------------------------------|-----|--|--|--|
| Li | st of [         | <b>Fables</b> |                                                     | XV  |  |  |  |
| Sy | mbol            | s and A       | bbreviations                                        | xix |  |  |  |
| 1  | Intr            | roduction     |                                                     |     |  |  |  |
|    | 1.1             | Backg         | round                                               | 1   |  |  |  |
|    | 1.2             | Motiva        | ation and Objectives                                | 4   |  |  |  |
|    | 1.3             | Proble        | ms and Challenges                                   | 6   |  |  |  |
|    | 1.4             | Contri        | butions                                             | 8   |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.4.1         | Map-assisted Access Point Placement for Positioning | 8   |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.4.2         | Positioning using Signal Patterns and Pathway Map   | 8   |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 1.4.3         | AP-centred Positioning with Fingerprint Technique   | 9   |  |  |  |
|    | 1.5             | Structu       | are of the Thesis                                   | 9   |  |  |  |
| 2  | Lite            | rature l      | Review                                              | 12  |  |  |  |
|    | 2.1             | Compa         | arison of RF Technologies for Positioning           | 12  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 2.1.1         | WiFi                                                | 13  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 2.1.2         | Radio Frequency Identification                      | 13  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 2.1.3         | Ultra-Wideband                                      | 14  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 2.1.4         | Bluetooth                                           | 15  |  |  |  |
|    |                 | 2.1.5         | Summary of Comparison                               | 15  |  |  |  |

|   | 2.2 | Locati    | on Estimation Approaches                  | 16 |
|---|-----|-----------|-------------------------------------------|----|
|   |     | 2.2.1     | Range Measurement                         | 16 |
|   |     | 2.2.2     | Fingerprinting                            | 19 |
|   |     | 2.2.3     | Device-free Passive Positioning           | 22 |
|   |     | 2.2.4     | Channel State Information                 | 23 |
|   | 2.3 | Impro     | ving Positioning Accuracy                 | 24 |
|   |     | 2.3.1     | Optimisation of AP Placement              | 24 |
|   |     | 2.3.2     | Use of Signal Patterns                    | 26 |
|   |     | 2.3.3     | Fusing with other Data Source             | 31 |
|   | 2.4 | Improv    | ving Deployment Efficiency                | 33 |
|   |     | 2.4.1     | Explicit Crowdsourcing                    | 33 |
|   |     | 2.4.2     | Implicit Survey                           | 34 |
|   | 2.5 | Indoor    | Location and Map                          | 34 |
|   |     | 2.5.1     | Presentation of Indoor Location           | 35 |
|   |     | 2.5.2     | Solutions for Indoor Map                  | 37 |
|   | 2.6 | Chapte    | er Summary                                | 38 |
| 3 | Mar | o-assiste | ed Access Point Placement for Positioning | 40 |
|   | 3.1 | Introd    | uction of Indoor Map                      | 41 |
|   | 3.2 | Data S    | Structure of Fingerprinting Technique     | 44 |
|   | 3.3 | Formu     | lation of AP Placement Problem            | 46 |
|   |     | 3.3.1     | AP Placement Optimisation Model           | 47 |
|   |     | 3.3.2     | Determining the Number of APs             | 49 |
|   |     | 3.3.3     | AP Placement Schemes                      | 50 |
|   | 3.4 | Map-a     | ssisted AP Placement Optimisation         | 51 |
|   |     | 3.4.1     | Wall Detection Algorithm                  | 51 |
|   |     | 3.4.2     | Signal Attenuation Caused by Walls        | 55 |
|   |     | 3.4.3     | AP Placement Optimisation Using PSO       | 56 |
|   | 25  | Experi    | iments and Results                        | 57 |
|   | 5.5 | LADCI     |                                           | 51 |
|   | 5.5 | 3.5.1     | Experimental Setup                        | 57 |

|   |      | 3.5.2    | Map-assisted Prediction of RSS                    | 58  |
|---|------|----------|---------------------------------------------------|-----|
|   |      | 3.5.3    | PSO Configuration and Evaluation                  | 61  |
|   |      | 3.5.4    | Results of Optimised AP Placement                 | 65  |
|   |      | 3.5.5    | Effectiveness of AP Placement for Positioning     | 66  |
|   | 3.6  | Chapte   | er Summary                                        | 67  |
| 4 | Posi | tioning  | using Signal Patterns and Pathway Map             | 69  |
|   | 4.1  | Analys   | sis of WiFi Signal Observations                   | 70  |
|   | 4.2  | Pathwa   | ау Мар                                            | 71  |
|   |      | 4.2.1    | Data Structure of Pathway Map                     | 73  |
|   |      | 4.2.2    | WiFi Signals Collected on Pathway Map             | 74  |
|   |      | 4.2.3    | Instructed Site Survey                            | 76  |
|   | 4.3  | Beacon   | n APs Generation                                  | 78  |
|   |      | 4.3.1    | Beacon AP Generation Algorithm                    | 78  |
|   |      | 4.3.2    | Construction of Beacon AP RSS Map                 | 82  |
|   | 4.4  | Signal   | Coverage Constraint                               | 84  |
|   | 4.5  | Positic  | oning Schemes using Signal Patterns               | 85  |
|   |      | 4.5.1    | System Architecture                               | 85  |
|   |      | 4.5.2    | Positioning Schemes                               | 87  |
|   | 4.6  | Evalua   | ation                                             | 89  |
|   |      | 4.6.1    | Experimental Setup                                | 89  |
|   |      | 4.6.2    | Effectiveness of Beacon APs                       | 91  |
|   |      | 4.6.3    | Effectiveness of Signal Coverage Constraint       | 93  |
|   |      | 4.6.4    | Efficiency Comparison                             | 97  |
|   | 4.7  | Chapte   | er Summary                                        | 99  |
| 5 | Acce | ess Poin | at-centred Positioning with Fingerprint Technique | 101 |
|   | 5.1  | Systen   | n Architecture and Protocols                      | 102 |
|   |      | 5.1.1    | Preliminary Architecture                          | 102 |
|   |      | 5.1.2    | Enhanced Architecture                             | 105 |

|    | 5.2                                     | Online  | Joint Positioning                        |  | 107 |  |
|----|-----------------------------------------|---------|------------------------------------------|--|-----|--|
|    | 5.3                                     | Evalua  | ution                                    |  | 109 |  |
|    |                                         | 5.3.1   | Experimental Setup                       |  | 109 |  |
|    |                                         | 5.3.2   | Effectiveness of AP-centred Architecture |  | 112 |  |
|    |                                         | 5.3.3   | Efficiency of AP-centred Architecture    |  | 113 |  |
|    | 5.4                                     | Chapte  | er Summary                               |  | 115 |  |
| 6  | Con                                     | clusion | and Future Work                          |  | 116 |  |
|    | 6.1                                     | Conclu  | ision                                    |  | 116 |  |
|    | 6.2                                     | Future  | Work                                     |  | 118 |  |
| Re | References                              |         |                                          |  |     |  |
| Aŗ | Appendix A List of Related Publications |         |                                          |  |     |  |

# **List of Figures**

| 1.1 | Wireless technologies for indoor positioning                                    | 4  |
|-----|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 1.2 | The structure of this thesis                                                    | 10 |
| 2.1 | Illustration of triangulation, a typical geometric positioning technique based  |    |
|     | on range measurement.                                                           | 17 |
| 2.2 | Plot of Log-distance Path Loss Model                                            | 18 |
| 2.3 | Illustration of reference points and access points over indoor map              | 20 |
| 2.4 | Principle of fingerprinting-based positioning                                   | 21 |
| 2.5 | Illustration moving trajectory                                                  | 28 |
| 2.6 | Illustration of temporal signal pattern when moving along a trajectory with     |    |
|     | different device setup                                                          | 29 |
| 2.7 | Illustration of trajectory options at a junction and the corresponding temporal |    |
|     | signal trend.                                                                   | 30 |
| 2.8 | Illustration of presenting indoor location using grid                           | 36 |
| 2.9 | Illustration of presenting indoor location using topological floor plan         | 37 |
| 3.1 | Illustration of the indoor map generation process                               | 42 |
| 3.2 | Illustration of the indoor map construction from individual rooms to com-       |    |
|     | pleted map                                                                      | 43 |
| 3.3 | Illustration of the source code of SVG file for a sample map containing 3       |    |
|     | individual rooms                                                                | 43 |
| 3.4 | Illustration of fingerprints of $RP_i$ and $RP_j$                               | 47 |
| 3.5 | Illustration of walls between RP and AP on indoor map                           | 52 |

| 3.6  | Illustration of the cases where two line segments that do not intersect can be  |    |
|------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
|      | determined by bounding box                                                      | 55 |
| 3.7  | Illustration of the cases where bounding box check fails (case 5) and two       |    |
|      | line segments intersect (case 6).                                               | 56 |
| 3.8  | Heat map of the RSS observed in the experimental site                           | 60 |
| 3.9  | Heat map of the RSS predicted by the FSPL model                                 | 60 |
| 3.10 | Heat map of the RSS predicted by the log-distance path loss model with wall     |    |
|      | attenuation using different attenuation factor per wall thickness               | 62 |
| 3.11 | CDF of the difference between predicted and observed RSS (dBm) using            |    |
|      | different attenuation factor per wall thickness.                                | 63 |
| 3.12 | Plots of the number of iteration in PSO to achieve convergence between          |    |
|      | random (top) and heuristic (bottom) placement strategy                          | 64 |
| 3.13 | Plots of the placement results computed by different placement schemes: ran-    |    |
|      | dom and heuristic placement, shown in red triangles and blue dots respectively. | 65 |
| 3.14 | Plots of CDF of location error distance by heuristic and random scheme          |    |
|      | using map-aided placement.                                                      | 67 |
| 3.15 | Plots of CDF of location error distance in heuristic placement using map-       |    |
|      | aided and no map-aided optimisation model                                       | 68 |
| 4.1  | Analysis of WiFi signal observations: occupancy of 195 observed APs with        |    |
|      | different number of observations (left) and frequency band (right)              | 70 |
| 4.2  | The RSS observations of VAPs operating in 2.4 GHz (top) and 5 GHz               |    |
|      | (bottom) frequency band from the same physical AP when moving along a           |    |
|      | corridor for 25 seconds                                                         | 72 |
| 4.3  | Illustration of pathway map.                                                    | 73 |
| 4.4  | Illustration of pathway's nodes and its adjacency matrix representing the       |    |
|      | connectivity between nodes.                                                     | 74 |
| 4.5  | Illustration of a path segment where the WiFi signals are collected             | 75 |
| 4.6  | Illustration of signal patterns processing from raw RSS samples observed        |    |
|      | from APs in one path segment of our experimental site                           | 80 |

| 4.7  | Illustration of Beacon APs Map at RPs on Path Segments                        | 83 |  |
|------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|--|
| 4.8  | RSS of different Beacon AP at RPs along path segments                         |    |  |
| 4.9  | Illustration of mapping Beacon APs to reference points based on the signals   |    |  |
|      | collected at our experimental site.                                           | 85 |  |
| 4.10 | Illustration of mapping Beacon APs to pathway map based on the signals        |    |  |
|      | collected at our experimental site.                                           | 86 |  |
| 4.11 | System architecture of positioning using temporal signal patterns             | 87 |  |
| 4.12 | Illustration of implementation on Android app.                                | 90 |  |
| 4.13 | CDF of location error distance using different device setups                  | 92 |  |
| 4.14 | CDF of location error distance in different usage scenarios.                  | 92 |  |
| 4.15 | Relationship between location error distance and number of Beacon APs         |    |  |
|      | generated in robust searching scheme.                                         | 93 |  |
| 4.16 | Relationship between location error distance and number of APs observed in    |    |  |
|      | robust searching scheme.                                                      | 94 |  |
| 4.17 | CDF of location error distance using different SCC ratio in selective search- |    |  |
|      | ing scheme                                                                    | 95 |  |
| 4.18 | CDF of number of candidate RPs using different SCC ratio in selective         |    |  |
|      | searching scheme.                                                             | 95 |  |
| 4.19 | CDF of number of APs used for similarity calculation of positioning using     |    |  |
|      | different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme                             | 96 |  |
| 4.20 | CDF of number of APs used for similarity calculation of positioning using     |    |  |
|      | different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme excluding the cases when    |    |  |
|      | no location can be found.                                                     | 96 |  |
| 4.21 | Relationship between location error distance and number of APs used for       |    |  |
|      | positioning in selective searching scheme when SCC ratio is 60%               | 97 |  |
| 4.22 | Plot of bar chart showing the number of APs of raw APs detected and Beacon    |    |  |
|      | APs generated at some of path segments in the experimental site in offline    |    |  |
|      | site survey.                                                                  | 98 |  |
| 4.23 | CDF of the number of candidate RPs from positioning log                       | 99 |  |

| 5.1 | Architecture of proposed system                                             |
|-----|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 5.2 | Sequence diagram of proposed system                                         |
| 5.3 | Format of the data from AP to JPS                                           |
| 5.4 | Enhanced architecture of proposed system                                    |
| 5.5 | The Fingerprint Collector app running on the survey MH (left) and the       |
|     | location of reference points selected in the experiment (right)             |
| 5.6 | The Web UI displaying the location of multiple MHs (left) and console to    |
|     | check the RSS of each individual MH (right)                                 |
| 5.7 | Comparision of CDF between AP-centred and MH-based system 113               |
| 5.8 | Location error distance at each evaluation point by AP-centred and MH-based |
|     | system                                                                      |
| 5.9 | Overall energy consumption on MH in MH-based and AP-centred systems . 115   |

## **List of Tables**

| 2.1 | Comparison of RF technologies used for indoor positioning             | 16 |
|-----|-----------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 3.1 | Database structure of table that stores the information on indoor map | 44 |
| 3.2 | Constant parameters of the experiment                                 | 59 |
| 4.1 | Part Of The Notations.                                                | 75 |
| 4.2 | Device Setups                                                         | 91 |

## **Symbols and Abbreviations**

#### **Roman Symbols**

- $\mathbf{S}_i$  RSS values observed from  $e_i$
- $\mathbf{T}_i$  Observation timestamps from  $e_i$
- $d_0$  Reference distance in log-distance path loss model
- *e* A path segment
- *G* Pathway map
- $L_0$  RSS at reference distance in log-distance path loss model
- *M* Number of APs selected as beacons for positioning
- *N* Number of RPs in the interesting area
- *n* Path-loss exponent in log-distance path loss model

#### **Greek Symbols**

- $\beta$  Signal's angle of arrival relative to wall
- $\lambda$  Inertia weight of existing velocity in PSO
- $\mu$  Scaling factor in heuristic placement scheme
- $\omega$  Attenuation factor per wall thickness unit

- $\phi_0$  Real-time vector of RSS at unknown location
- $\phi_i$  Vector of RSS of pre-selected APs at  $RP_i$
- $\Psi$  Radio map consisting of RSS of all APs at all RPs
- $\psi_{k,i}$  RSS of  $AP_k$  at  $RP_i$
- $\rho$  Coverage overlap ratio
- $\varphi$  Signal strength attenuation caused by walls

#### **Acronyms / Abbreviations**

- AOA Angle Of Arrival
- AP Access Point
- API Application Programming Interface
- AR Acoustic Ranging
- BSSID Basic Service Set Identifier
- CDF Cumulative Distribution Function
- CSI Channel State Information
- FP Fingerprint
- GPS Global Positioning System
- IMU Inertial Measurement Unit
- IoT Internet of Things
- JPS Joint Positioning Server
- KNN K-Nearest Neighbours

- LBS Location-based Services
- LoS Line-of-Sight
- MAC Media Access Control
- MH Mobile Handheld
- NIC Network Interface Card
- OFDM Orthogonal Frequency-Division Multiplexing
- PoI Point of Interest
- PSO Particle Swarm Optimisation
- PST Path Segments Traversal
- QoE Quality of Experience
- RF Radio Frequency
- RFID Radio Frequency Identification
- RP Reference Point
- RSS Received Signal Strength
- **RTOF** Round-trip Time Of Flight
- SCC Signal Coverage Constraint
- SNR Signal-to-Noise Ratio
- SSID Service Set Identifier
- SSP Sibling Signal Patterns
- SVG Scalable Vector Graphics

### TDOA Time Difference Of Arrival

- TSP Temporal Signal Pattern
- UI User Interface
- UWB Ultra-Wideband
- VAP Virtual Access Point
- WLAN Wireless Local Area Networks

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

In a wide range of systems with context-aware computing, including the Internet of Things (IoT), wireless sensor networks, mobile social networks and mobile peer-to-peer computing, the indoor location is one of the essential contexts. The enabling technology for them is an accurate and reliable indoor positioning solution. Indoor positioning attracted many research efforts from both academia and industry in the past decade, and it has been well studied from various aspects.

In this chapter, the background knowledge of indoor positioning is briefly introduced, including the use cases (i.e., application scenarios), technologies which can be used for indoor positioning and the positioning techniques based on different technologies. Then the ubiquity of WiFi signals and importance of indoor map are highlighted, which motivated this research work. Next, the problems and challenges of indoor positioning are discussed from the aspects of insufficient positioning accuracy and inefficient system deployment. Finally, the contributions of this thesis towards map-assisted indoor positioning utilising ubiquitous WiFi signals are identified.

## 1.1 Background

The services based on the context of location information are called location-based services (LBS) and the key enabling technology of LBS is location sensing or positioning (i.e., the

solution to estimate the location of an object or person in a room, building or in the world) [1]. Based on the fact that human beings spend 90% of their time indoors, with the advance of mobile devices and great impact of mobile applications (apps) over mobile phones, the LBS for indoor environments is highly desired. However, the very mature satellite-based positioning technology such as Global Positioning System (GPS) cannot work indoors since the signals from the satellite cannot penetrate well in the indoor environment (i.e., GPS need direct visibility to satellite) and the positioning accuracy of GPS is not refined enough for indoor scenarios [2]. As a result, an accurate and reliable indoor positioning solution is so desired to fill the shortage of GPS and is expected to provide the same functionality as the GPS (i.e., provide the location of an object device in real time) [3].

Nowadays with the surge of the IoT systems and its broad applications in real life, the indoor location is an important context to achieve various services. The primary function of positioning is to find a steady location of a stationary or moving device, which is used in the applications requiring one-off location information, such as mobile social networking or location-targeted advertisement. Meanwhile tracking a mobile device instead of obtaining a device's steady location is also on demand [4]. Tracking is a continuous process of computing a sequence of locations, rather than repeatedly locating the single steady location. Indoor location tracking is a sub-category of indoor positioning and requires typically higher positioning accuracy [4, 5].

The application scenarios of indoor positioning can be summarised as follows.

- Indoor Navigation for visitors in the large-scale indoor environment, e.g. shopping mall, exhibition centre and even car park [6, 7].
- Smart Home and Ambient Assisted Living, e.g. location-based automated heating or lighting control [8].
- Context Awareness Services, e.g. location-based social networking.
- E-Health Care, e.g. tracking and monitoring the movement of patients [9].

• Retail Industry, e.g. mobility analysis of customers and targeted retail advertisement in shopping malls.

In the last decade, indoor LBS has attracted much research efforts from both academia and industry [10]. Recent years have seen the emergence of various solutions for indoor positioning using different technologies and techniques. The technologies range from Radio Frequency (RF) signals such as WiFi [11], Bluetooth [12], UWB (Ultra-Wide Band) [13] and RFID (Radio-Frequency Identification) [14–16] to IMU (Inertial Measurement Unit) [17][18], sound [19, 20], visible light [21][22] and magnetic field [23][24], as shown in Fig. 1.1. Meanwhile, many hybrid solutions using multiple technologies are proposed [25]. The inertial sensors are commonly used with other technologies to provide prediction or correction.

There are various positioning techniques used for indoor location estimation. The widely used approaches can be classified into two categories: range measurement and fingerprinting [26]. Range measurement techniques obtain the distance between object device and reference beacons (i.e., devices deployed as the infrastructure of positioning system) based on the propagation model, such as distance to time of flight model or distance to signal strength loss model. The location of object device can be worked out using the measured distance to multiple reference beacons whose locations are known. Fingerprinting technique consists of two stages: offline site survey and online positioning, as illustrated in Fig. 2.4. Fingerprinting is a common positioning technique used by most received signal strength (RSS)-based positioning systems. RSS is the measurement of the power observed in a radio signal received. The fingerprint is defined as an RSS vector from multiple signal transmitters and collected at a location in site survey phase. Successively, the fingerprints at multiple pre-selected locations are collected to construct the fingerprint database. In the positioning phase, given an RSS vector observed at an unknown location, which is compared with the fingerprints in the fingerprint database, the associated location of the best-matched fingerprint is estimated as the location of the observed RSS vector [27-29]. The more detailed description of WiFi-based positioning and approaches to estimating indoor location are provided in Chapter 2.

## **1.2 Motivation and Objectives**

Among existing technologies, the use of WiFi is a popular approach to bring indoor positioning into practice, because WiFi access points (AP) are already deployed extensively in most public places like hospital and shopping mall and most off-the-shelf mobile devices are already equipped with WiFi communication modules [30, 31]. In the WiFi-based positioning, the APs act as the natural beacons for positioning and the off-the-shelf mobile devices are the targeted positioning object. The wide deployment of WiFi infrastructure and the ubiquity of WiFi-integrated mobile devices have provided a massive opportunity for indoor LBS.



Fig. 1.1 Wireless technologies for indoor positioning

The positioning systems and LBS need to clarify the following questions: how to express locations, how to obtain a location and then how to display a location in the user interface (UI). For the outdoor environment, location can be expressed by latitude and longitude of the geographic coordinate system and map platforms such as Google Map and Open Street Map can provide mature graphical presentation interface and sufficient geographic data to indicate the required outdoor locations [32–34]. While for the multiple-storey indoor space, neither the geographic coordinate system nor graphical map platform exists. Thus, an appropriate setup of indoor coordinate system and presentation of the indoor environment, e.g. indoor location and indoor map, are essential for indoor positioning systems.

We believe the indoor map will become pervasive and will be a crucial component to bring indoor positioning into practice. Firstly, the widely-used Google Map was just launched in 2005 to provide the mapping of the outdoor environment, and nowadays almost all the location-based services are based on Google Map or similar platforms [32]. With the development of the Internet of Things, Smart Cities, Ambient Assisted Living and so on, the indoor location information is becoming an important context and mapping of indoor space is on demand [4, 8, 9]. Therefore, we believe the indoor map will be developed promptly, and a giant platform like Google Map but for the indoor environment may appear very soon. Some indoor map systems have been available in the market, but the functionality is still limited. Secondly, in the last decade, researchers proposed many indoor positioning solutions by obtaining and fusing various data, including different RF signals, the inertial sensor, acoustic data, vision data and indoor map. Among those data, apart from the indoor map the availability and quality of them are dependent on the positioning technology. However, the indoor map is always available and can work with any positioning technology [27]. Thirdly, to support tracking or navigation services, the map is an essential prerequisite and has been commonly used in outdoor in-car navigation [35].

Thus, the ubiquity of WiFi and the critical role of the indoor map for indoor positioning motivate this thesis to investigate the indoor positioning problem through the usage of the ubiquitous WiFi signals and information from the indoor map. The objective of this thesis is to improve the positioning accuracy and deployment efficiency of indoor positioning system from three aspects, which is summarised as follows.

- 1. Investigate the data structure to describe the information available in the indoor environment and the approach to implement it as an indoor map.
- 2. Investigate the ubiquitous WiFi signals and its opportunities to improve the performance of indoor positioning, especially in conjunction with information obtained from the indoor map.
- Investigate the role access point plays in WiFi-based indoor positioning and its opportunities to assist positioning.

### **1.3** Problems and Challenges

The essential and inevitable problem for indoor positioning is the complex indoor environment, characterised by non-line-of-sight (LoS) and signal fluctuation caused by dynamic environmental changes such as people and furniture. For positioning system based on range measurement, to predict the distance between reference beacon and target device accurately, the essential condition is modelling the radio propagation correctly. However, it is very difficult to model the signal propagation in the indoor environment due to a variety of interference. Most importantly, the low availability of LoS path is one critical obstacle, which makes it difficult to find a LoS channel between the signal transmitter and receiver. The reason why GPS performs poorly indoors is also the missing LoS between the mobile device and the satellites. Due to non-line-of-sight in the indoor environment, fingerprinting becomes a popular technique for positioning by using RSS of WiFi signals. However, because of the reflecting surface in indoor space, the signal is affected by the multi-path fading and shows significant fluctuation, which leads to inconsistent RSS observation and eventually mismatched fingerprint, so that the accuracy of positioning is decreased directly [36–39]. Despite such complex indoor environment, highly accurate indoor location information is still highly expected to be provided by indoor positioning solutions.

In the existing fingerprint-based positioning systems using WiFi, some of them can achieve location error of fewer than two meters. This level of accuracy is sufficient to identify a room-level location and can satisfy most indoor positioning scenarios that don't require higher granularity of location information [30, 40, 41]. However, along with accuracy, another significant problem behind is deployment overhead. For fingerprint-based positioning system, no matter whatever method is used to estimate location, the site survey to create radio map is inevitable. The technique that most systems adopt is the explicit and designated offline manual survey, in which every accessible location of the interesting area needs to be surveyed by manpower before the online positioning work. For example, the COMPASS [42] system need spend more than 4 hours to survey a small building floor of 125 m2. Another problem with the offline survey is that the site survey work needs to be repeated fully or partially when there are environmental changes, such as removal or adding of AP. Thus, the

fingerprint-based system need manually profiling the space, which typically is exceptionally time-consuming, labour-intensive and intrusive.

Moreover, the energy consumption is also a major concern. While the positioning modules running on mobile devices often require fast WiFi scanning and computationintensive processing, the computing resources and battery capacity of mobile devices are quite limited, which leads to a significant drain of battery in short time. For fingerprint-based positioning, typically the fingerprint database contains a large number of RSS data, and a sophisticated algorithm is utilised to improve positioning accuracy, which makes the energy consumption problem even worse. To reduce the energy consumption of mobile device some server-based positioning systems are proposed by offloading the computation-intensive of positioning to a remote server, but the data communication between mobile device and server can still cause energy consumption [43]. Also, the network connection to server needs to be considered to prevent the downtime of positioning service [44].

Therefore, the latest challenge is how to exploit the synergy of existing technologies to improve the accuracy and optimise the deployment process to be more efficient, rather than developing new technology for indoor positioning [45–48]. The problems and challenges can be summarised as follows.

- Insufficient positioning accuracy caused by
  - Signal fluctuation caused by multi-path fading and shadowing
  - Dynamic changes of complex indoor environment
  - Heterogeneous mobile devices of users
- Inefficient system deployment including
  - Time-consuming and laborious site survey
  - Complex follow-up works to calibrate radio map
  - Energy consumption of mobile device

### **1.4 Contributions**

In this thesis, the contributions of indoor positioning are provided in three directions (i.e., AP placement algorithm, positioning using signal patterns and AP-centred architecture) to improve the positioning accuracy and system efficiency. An indoor map system is proposed to provide the information that can be utilised to assist indoor positioning. The main contributions are summarised in detail as follows.

#### 1.4.1 Map-assisted Access Point Placement for Positioning

This thesis presents an indoor map system that provides a geographic coordinate system and graphic presentation, where the detailed map information such as walls can be explicitly expressed. The author studies the problem of optimising the AP placement to achieve better performance for fingerprint-based positioning, in which the walls in the indoor map are used to assist the AP placement algorithm. In this work, AP placement is formulated into an optimisation problem in which the sum of the Euclidean distance of fingerprints among all the reference points is maximised. The fingerprint at each reference point is predicted by an indoor map. The optimisation problem is solved by Particle Swarm Optimisation (PSO). The effectiveness and efficiency of the proposed AP placement algorithm are measured via the accuracy of positioning in the real-world positioning system, where k-nearest neighbours (KNN) is adopted as the positioning algorithm. The experimental results show that our map-assisted AP placement can provide higher positioning accuracy.

#### 1.4.2 Positioning using Signal Patterns and Pathway Map

To identify the opportunity for indoor positioning using ubiquitous WiFi signals, the WiFi signals under modern enterprise WiFi infrastructure are analysed firstly. Then the signal patterns between coexisting access points and signals' correlation with indoor pathway map are investigated to address the problem of inconsistent WiFi signal observations. The sibling signal patterns (SSP) are defined for the first time and processed to generate Beacon

APs which have higher confidence in positioning. The spatial signal patterns are used to bring the estimated location into a limited area through signal coverage constraint (SCC). The positioning schemes using Beacon APs and SCC are proposed and shows improved positioning accuracy. The proposed schemes are adequately designed, implemented and evaluated in a real-world environment, revealing its effectiveness and efficiency.

#### **1.4.3** AP-centred Positioning with Fingerprint Technique

An AP-centred indoor positioning system is proposed to address some common concerns in the conventional MH (Mobile Handheld)-based positioning system, such as passive positioning and excessive involvement of MH, in particular for scenarios of positioning multiple MHs simultaneously. Meanwhile, the popularly-used fingerprint technique is combined into the AP-centred architecture to achieve higher positioning accuracy. The proposed system is entirely designed, implemented and tested in a real-world deployment. In the environment covered by the APs running the proposed system, the location of the WiFi-enabled MHs appearing in this environment can be computed by a positioning server without disturbing MHs. The accuracy of positioning result obtained from the AP-centred positioning system is evaluated in comparison with a traditional MH-based system in the real experiments. The proposed AP-centred system shows not only the feasibility of AP-centred positioning but also better performance on positioning accuracy and energy consumption of MH.

### **1.5** Structure of the Thesis

The rest of this thesis is organised as follows. Fig. 1.2 shows the structure of this thesis.

In Chapter 2, a detailed survey on WiFi-based indoor positioning is performed. It first discusses the RF technologies which are similar to WiFi and used for indoor positioning. Next, the approaches to estimate locations in the indoor environment, especially the fingerprinting technique are reviewed, followed by the related works from peers to solve the problems of



insufficient accuracy and inefficient deployment. Finally, the existing approaches to express indoor location and map for indoor positioning are presented.

In Chapter 3, a map-assisted AP placement algorithm is presented, which considers the signal attenuation caused by walls in the indoor environment. An indoor map system adopting vector graphic technology is first introduced. Then an optimisation model for AP placement in fingerprint-based indoor positioning system is presented, where the wall information of the indoor map is utilised thoroughly. A kNN-based positioning system has verified the effectiveness of it in experiments and the accuracy has been analysed.

In Chapter 4, the WiFi signals under modern enterprise WiFi infrastructure, signal patterns between coexisting access points and signals' correlation with indoor pathway map are investigated to address the problem of inconsistent WiFi signal observations. Some positioning scheme using the signal patterns are proposed and shows improved positioning accuracy. The proposed scheme is fully designed, implemented and evaluated in a real-world environment, revealing its effectiveness and efficiency

In Chapter 5, an AP-based indoor positioning architecture with fingerprint technique is proposed, which can infer mobile device's location without having to install any additional software on the mobile device. To achieve passive positioning, the whole positioning service (RSS scan and location estimation) moves from mobile phone to a remote cloud, which relieves the mobile device's participation in the positioning process.

In Chapter 6, the achievements of the thesis are summarised, and some future research directions are identified.

## Chapter 2

## **Literature Review**

Indoor positioning is a well-known problem and attracts a lot of research efforts in the last decade. The literature review of this thesis mainly focuses on RF technologies similar to WiFi that enable indoor positioning, the approaches to estimate locations in an indoor environment, especially the fingerprinting technique, various solutions to improve positioning accuracy and deployment efficiency, and indoor location and map used for the indoor positioning system.

## 2.1 Comparison of RF Technologies for Positioning

The indoor positioning system is typically consisting of location-known beacons and mobile target devices. The beacons and target devices are communicating with each other using a specific type of wireless technology to determine the distance between them. Radio Frequency (RF) is the frequency that the radio signals are carried and transmitted from the antenna. In this work only RF technologies are considered and these existing technologies include WiFi [11], Bluetooth [12], Ultra-Wide Band (UWB) [13] and radio-frequency identification (RFID) [14] and etc. [30, 49]. The features and peers' work of these conventional RF technologies used for indoor positioning are discussed as follows.

#### 2.1.1 WiFi

In recent years the wireless local area networks (WLAN) have been deployed in the most indoor environment especially the public areas, such as universities, hospitals, airport, etc. Currently, WiFi (IEEE 802.11) has been the representative technology for WLAN. In addition to broadband data transmission, WiFi networks also provide a good alternative to indoor positioning beacons. The WiFi's key advantage over other wireless technologies is that the existing WiFi infrastructure and WiFi-enabled devices like smartphones can be reused for positioning directly, which therefore makes the hardware cost for positioning zero. The received signal strength of WiFi acts as a common metric for channel quality and is widely used to infer propagation distance. Most WiFi-based positioning systems use the RSS as the metric to estimate location.

There have been numerous WiFi-based positioning systems and the accuracy of them is approximately 1 to 5 meters. RADAR [11] is an earlier famous system using WiFi for indoor positioning and achieved around 2.37-2.65 meters in 50 percentile and 5.93-5.97 meters in 90 percentile. Youssef [50] using probabilistic method acquires the accuracy of more than 90% to within 2.1 meters, and some other systems revealed that neural networks technique could increase the accuracy to 1 meter with 72% probability. Because of the popularity of WiFi devices and the ubiquitous deployment of WiFi networks, people are continuously attempting to make use of the WiFi signals to achieve indoor positioning. The WiFi signals also suffer from multi-path fading. In addition, the various WiFi chips equipped with mobile devices lead to the problem of device heterogeneity.

### 2.1.2 Radio Frequency Identification

The radio frequency identification (RFID) is a means of storing and retrieving data through the electromagnetic transmission to an RF compatible integrated circuit. An RFID system consists of RFID readers and RFID tags. The RFID reader can read data emitted from RFID tags. RFID readers and tags use a defined radio frequency and protocol to transmit and receive data. The coverage range of RFID signal could be up to 50 meters and even hundreds of meters with special antenna [31]. In the indoor positioning systems using RFID technology, the RFID tag is attached to the target object, and the RFID readers are mounted on the ceiling with known locations. The RFID reader can measure the distance to the object by analysing the radio signal strength information [51].

A system called LANDMARC [15] is a prototype indoor location sensing system using RFID technology, and it could achieve the accuracy of 1 meter in average and 2 meters in the worst case. The LANDMARC reveals that the non-line-of-sight nature of RFID is a significant advantage and the radio transmission range is enough for indoor positioning. However, there is a tradeoff between the accuracy and the density of reference tags. The installation and maintenance of numerous infrastructure components in the positioning area are time-consuming and not cost-effective. As a result, whether RFID can be used as the enabling technology depends on the application scenarios and accuracy requirement.

#### 2.1.3 Ultra-Wideband

Ultra-Wideband (UWB) is a kind of radio technology in which the pulses are ultra-short (typically one ns). UWB transmits a signal over multiple bands of frequencies simultaneously, from 3.1 to 10.6 GHz [31]. The short duration pulses are easy to be distinguished from the reflected signals caused by the multi-path effect. The multi-path distortion of radio signals in the indoor environment is the major obstacle of the positioning systems using conventional radio signals. UWB technology improves the positioning accuracy significantly by overcoming multi-path propagation. Furthermore, because of high penetration ability of UWB, the accuracy of the UWB-based positioning system could achieve about tens of centimetres.

Ubisense is an indoor positioning system based on UWB technology to estimate the location using triangulation technique. The *time difference of arrival* (TDOA) and *angle of arrival* (AOA) techniques are employed to compute distance by measuring the difference in arrival times and signal angles. In the Ubisense system, there are networked sensors fixed in the known locations and moving tags that transmit UWB signals to the fixed sensors. The data detected by the multiple sensors is gathered to a central server to estimate the location

of the moving tag. The sensors in Ubisense are deployed as cells with at least four sensors in each cell, and all the sensors throughout buildings can be networked together in a manner similar to cellular phone networks so that the coverage range and scalability are not problems.

#### 2.1.4 Bluetooth

Bluetooth is a short-range (typically 10-15 m) wireless technology that was developed to provide low-cost and low-bandwidth communication scenarios [12]. Bluetooth has been widely used in various types of devices like mobile phone, laptops, media players etc. and Bluetooth chipsets are low cost. Thus Bluetooth has a great market potential for indoor positioning. In Bluetooth based positioning system, the Bluetooth tags are required to be deployed in the positioning area as the positioning infrastructure. The earlier Bluetooth-based positioning systems using old Bluetooth standard (before version 2.1), such as Topaz [31], need to spend around 20 seconds to discover the RSS due to the time-consuming pre-connection, which makes it impossible for real-time positioning. The latest Bluetooth-integrated devices such as Android smartphones could provide Application Programming Interface (API) to access Bluetooth standard that can provide RSS reading easily and quickly. Another feature of Bluetooth chip is the low power consumption, which is a significant advantage for the battery-limited systems.

#### 2.1.5 Summary of Comparison

The comparison of these RF technologies from several different aspects is illustrated in Table 2.1. Among these RF technologies, WiFi is the most promising option for generic indoor positioning which is easy to deploy, low cost and could provide sufficient accuracy for most application scenarios. The existing WiFi access points (APs) can be used as positioning beacons, and commodity smartphones are the targeted mobile devices, so dedicated hardware is not required for the positioning purpose.

|           | Coverage | Cost      | Deployment | Accuracy            |
|-----------|----------|-----------|------------|---------------------|
| RFID      | Moderate | Moderate  | Hard       | 1-2 m               |
| UWB       | Short    | Expensive | Hard       | tens of centimeters |
| Bluetooth | Short    | Low       | Moderate   | 1-3 m               |
| WiFi      | Moderate | Low       | Easy       | 1-5 m               |

Table 2.1 Comparison of RF technologies used for indoor positioning

### 2.2 Location Estimation Approaches

The location estimation approaches and its fundamental principles are presented in this section for readers to understand the problems of the field. The widely used approaches for WiFi-based positioning can be classified into two categories, range measurement and fingerprinting[26]. Both methods are facing numerous challenges to achieve their expected performance for indoor positioning [41]. In the two approaches mentioned above, they require the targeted device to participate in the positioning work. There are also some other positioning approaches without the involvement of targeted device, which is named device-free passive positioning and introduced afterwards.

In the WiFi-based indoor positioning, RSS is widely used in the last decades, because RSS reflects the distance between transmitter and receiver. The RSS is also easy to obtain in most mobile devices by calling the API of the operating system. However, in typical indoor environments, wireless signals often propagate via multiple paths in a dynamic environment, which leads to unpredictable and inconsistent RSS measurements. Thus, the accuracy of RSS-based positioning is decreased mainly because of RSS fluctuation. Channel state information (CSI) is an emerging technique to replace RSS information, which is also introduced in the follows. CSI can work with either range measurement or fingerprinting technique.

#### 2.2.1 Range Measurement

Range measurement techniques are used to obtain the distance based on the propagation model. Therefore range measurement techniques are also known as modelling-based approaches. A propagation model is used to describe the characteristics of radio propagation in the indoor environment. The different propagation models can be used to describe the

relationship between different propagation properties, such as the relationship between propagation distance and signal strength loss, propagation distance and propagation time, etc..

Based on range measurements a traditional technique to estimate the location is triangulation, which uses the geometric properties of triangles to estimate the location of an object by measuring its distances from multiple reference points (RPs) [52]. In triangulation method, with at least three reference points, the location of the object in a two-dimensional environment will be able to be estimated through calculating the intersection of the ranges between the object and each reference points, as shown in Fig. 2.1. The position of the reference points must be known prior to the positioning process, and the location information must contain physical coordinates, rather than just semantic information, such as room number or name. In the positioning approaches based on range measurements, the positioning accuracy depends on the measurement precision directly.



Fig. 2.1 Illustration of triangulation, a typical geometric positioning technique based on range measurement.

#### 2.2.1.1 Propagation Loss Model

Propagation loss model is a conventional model used to measure the distance using received signal strength (RSS), which can be called path loss model as well [53, 54]. The signal propagation loss models can be theoretical or empirical to estimate the propagation distance
by measuring the difference of received signal strengths in the propagation path. The Fig. 2.2 illustrates the log-distance path loss model, which is an empirical model to predict the path loss of a signal and has empirical coefficient parameters. The empirical coefficient values are depending on the frequency of signal and transmission environment. The meaning of the parameters shown in Fig. 2.2 is introduced in Eq. (3.11) in Section 3.3.1. The theoretical model tends to be more flexible than the empirical model. The model is constructed based on the fact that wireless signals travelling through a certain environment undergo specific types of signal loss, which can be modelled using well-known radio propagation and path loss theories to build up the relationship with propagation distance. Path loss model suffers from similar problems as propagation time model, and multi-path fading and shadowing are the major issues for it [55]. The best-known systems using range measurement technique based on propagation loss model can achieve a median accuracy of around 2-4 meters [11, 56]. These systems are easy to deploy because RSS values are easily available on most mobile devices.



Fig. 2.2 Plot of Log-distance Path Loss Model.

#### 2.2.1.2 Propagation Time Model

Propagation time model describes the radio propagation characteristic that the propagation distance is directly proportional to the propagation time. There are numerous techniques based on propagation time model to measure the distance between the object and reference points. Time of arrival (TOA) is one straightforward method based on propagation time model to estimate the propagation distance, which can be computed by multiplying the radio signal velocity and time of flight. To measure the one-way propagation time, the positioning system must meet a necessary condition that all distributed transmitters and receivers need to be precisely synchronised and timestamp must be labelled with the signal sent from the transmitter. Round-trip time of flight (RTOF) works in a similar way like TOA, which also uses absolute travel time to calculate distance. The signal transmitter acts as the signal receiver to measure the round-trip travel time of the signal, and the receiver in TOA becomes a transporter to send the signal back to the transmitter. In the RTOF method, the delay caused by transporter is the major problem that leads to incorrect measurements. Time difference of arrival (TDOA) is to measure the difference in time when the multiple receivers received the signal from the transmitter, in which the multiple receivers (measuring units) share a synchronised time but the signal transmitter (target object) doesn't need to participate any synchronisation process with receivers. TDOA also brings another benefit that the signal propagation noise and delay can be taken into computing. The best-known systems using propagation time model achieve a median accuracy of 2 meters. However, these methods usually need hardware/firmware modification and time synchronisation in commodity WiFi infrastructure.

## 2.2.2 Fingerprinting

Fingerprinting is a significant positioning technique used by most RSS-based positioning systems. Fingerprint-based positioning system consists of two stages: offline site survey and online positioning, as illustrated in Fig. 2.4.

It is a common practice that some locations in the interesting area are chosen as reference points (RPs) in the site survey stage, as the illustration in Fig. 2.3. The granularity of the reference points usually is about one to two meters. For example in the system using WiFi, the site survey is conducted by the WiFi-compatible mobile device to collect the WiFi fingerprint at every reference point in the interesting area. The fingerprint is defined as a record of received signal strength (e.g., a set of RSS from surrounding reachable APs, which is also named RSS vectors) collected at a reference point. The fingerprints obtained at all the reference points constitute a fingerprint database of this area to serve the positioning process.



Fig. 2.3 Illustration of reference points and access points over indoor map.

In the positioning stage, the real-time RSS of surrounding WiFi signals received by a user with a WiFi-compatible device is compared with the records in the pre-collected fingerprint database to find the best-matched fingerprint, which is conducted by the major positioning algorithm. The corresponding location information of the best-matched fingerprint is returned to user as the positioning result [27–29][30].



Fig. 2.4 Principle of fingerprinting-based positioning

Fingerprint-based positioning is also named pattern matching-based approach or scene analysis approach [57]. The primary reason to present the idea of the fingerprint is that the severe multi-path effect of radio propagation suffered by modelling-based positioning approaches. In fingerprinting-based positioning, the multi-path characteristics in different indoor locations are considered as the unique pattern to each location, so that the problems caused by multi-path propagation in conventional modelling-based positioning are avoided and become as a unique metric to distinguish different locations. Meanwhile, it brings another benefit that the location of the reference points are not necessary to be known because it is not based on range measurements to estimate location. The best-known systems using fingerprinting technique can provide around 0.6 meters of median accuracy [45, 58].

However, there are also several disadvantages of fingerprinting technique. First and foremost, employing the fingerprinting technique means the system need to conduct the

offline site survey to build up the fingerprint database, which is time-consuming and labourintensive. To avoid the decrease of accuracy due to the environmental changes, regular updates (i.e., repeat or partially redo the site survey) are required to adapt to the changes, so that the system can maintain the up to date fingerprint database. In addition, with the rapid evolution of mobile devices, the device heterogeneity is another significant issue need to be addressed, which can affect the performance of indoor positioning largely. Finally, because fingerprinting techniques typically require frequent WiFi scan and complex fingerprint matching algorithm, the battery energy of mobile device is a concern as well and will be more outstanding when the system is vastly deployed in mobile devices.

#### 2.2.3 Device-free Passive Positioning

A physical device attached to the person is typically the targeted device of positioning and usually required to participate actively in the positioning process. Thus, several works are proposed to enable detecting, tracking and identifying entities without requiring any attached devices and active participation in positioning. The work in [59] utilises the installed wireless data networks (i.e., WiFi networks) to detect the changes in the environment and hence identify the location of entities passively. Their work relies on the fact that RF signals are affected by changes in the environment, such as people and furniture. When the signals are sent with the same power every time, the temporal variability of the signal remains the same. Because of multi-path effect, the signals' RSS measurement or time of flight can be varied if there is obstacle sitting between the transmitter and receiver. The entities such as people can easily affect the signal at the 2.4GHz frequency range. In their work, the APs and monitoring stations (i.e., any device capable of receiving WiFi signal) are deployed to continuously monitor and process the changes of RSS measurements, which are then used to detect the changes in the environment and analyse the correlation to the locations of entities. Their experiment is conducted in a testbed consisting of APs and monitoring stations running 802.11b protocol at the 2.4GHz frequency. APs broadcast beacons every 100ms and RSS value can be extracted from the header of the link-layer frame (MAC layer). Their results show that the system can detect the appearance of entities correctly in 100% probability and

identify the location of entities with more than 86% accuracy, which establishes the proof of the feasibility of device-free passive positioning.

## 2.2.4 Channel State Information

RSS is only a single-value MAC layer information offered by the wireless network adaptor. RSS value is a packet-level estimator, i.e., the average value of the signal power over a packet, which is easily varied by multipath. Thus, recent efforts have dived into the PHY (Physical) layer to obtain richer information which can represent the multi-path propagation. The OFDM (Orthogonal frequency-division multiplexing) system is commonly used in the physical layer of today's WLAN (i.e., IEEE 802.11 a/g/n) to provide high throughput. In OFDM a channel is orthogonally divided into multiple sub channels, namely subcarriers. The data is modulated and transmitted in parallel on multiple subcarriers at different frequencies. The OFDM system offers channel measurement at the subcarrier level, which is called channel state information (CSI) [60]. CSI is a fine-grained metric full of frequency domain information, which describes how a signal propagates from the transmitter to the receiver and reveals the effect of multipath [61–63]. Thus, compared with RSS, more robust and reliable signal features can be extracted from CSI.

FILA [64] explores the fine-grained CSI measurements by processing the CSI of multiple subcarriers in a single packet. A refined radio propagation model using processed CSI information is proposed to compute the distance between AP and target device, then the simplest trilateration method is used to obtain the location. FILA achieves up to 10 times accuracy gain over the corresponding RSS-based propagation model. Meanwhile, FILA also introduces a CSI-based fingerprinting approach, which uses the frequency diversity attribute of CSI to manifest a location uniquely. Their evaluation shows the CSI-based fingerprinting can achieve the median accuracy of 0.65 m, which outperforms the similar RSS-based approach by about 0.2 m.

SpotFi [65] provides a positioning service using commercial off-the-shelf WiFi NICs (Network Interface Cards) with three antennas, which achieves a comparable accuracy to the systems with large antenna arrays which are not available in commodity WiFi infrastructure.

The key technique of SpotFi is super-resolution algorithm to compute the angle of arrival (AoA) of the package through the CSI measurements, which forms a sensor matrix from 30 OFDM subcarriers and 3 antennas. The AoA and RSS measurement from different APs are combined together to estimate the location of the targeted device through triangulation.

## 2.3 Improving Positioning Accuracy

In this section, the solutions to improve the positioning accuracy in state of the art are introduced. Most of the solutions are proposed explicitly for the positioning system using WiFi technology and fingerprint technique. The improvements can be achieved from different aspects, including the AP placement, usage of signal patterns and assistance from other signals.

## 2.3.1 Optimisation of AP Placement

The WiFi APs are used as the beacons for WiFi-compatible mobile devices to work out their locations. The accuracy of indoor positioning using WiFi can be substantially enhanced by appropriate AP placement strategies, i.e., in a given indoor environment to deploy the APs at the locations where the mobile devices can work out their location more precisely.

The majority of the work addresses the AP placement problem from the angle of providing data services, namely, how to place APs to increase the WLAN performance [66]. Issues concerned here consist of reducing interference, increasing coverage and data rate and eventually providing better QoE (quality of experience) to end users [67–73]. However, in the WiFi-based indoor positioning, its performance can be affected by AP deployment, so that the AP placement problem can also be studied for improving the performance of indoor positioning [74][75]. Therefore, the following discussions focus on this angle.

The fingerprint at each RP is stored in a database at the site survey stage. Then at the positioning stage, the fingerprint records in the database are compared with the real-time RSS vector to compute the location of a mobile device. As a result, the goal of all these

studies in the literature is to maximise the differential and diversity of the fingerprints or minimise the number of similar fingerprints.

In [76], an optimisation model is proposed to maximise the sum of the Euclidean distance of RSS vector among RPs within a limited area. A Differential Evolution algorithm is used to solve the optimisation model. The experimental results show that the APs are better to be scattered asymmetrically and the increase of the number of APs placed in the positioning area does not always obtain improvement of positioning performance. A similar technique as above is proposed in [77], which aims to maximise the minimum Euclidean distance of RSS vector between different RPs. The work in [78] defines a threshold called Similar Fingerprint (SF) and aims to minimise the total number of SFs among all the RPs by Simulated Annealing algorithm. In [79], on top of positioning, wireless coverage is also considered when carrying out AP placement. The minimum number of AP and locations of APs to achieve the desired coverage scope is determined in the first stage. In the second stage, the locations of APs are further adjusted to increase the fingerprint difference without compromising the coverage requirement. The fingerprint difference here is also defined as the Euclidean distance of RSS vector. Their result shows their approach cannot only guarantee radio coverage but also improve the positioning accuracy significantly. In [80], one approach inspired by the signalto-noise ratio (SNR) is presented to find the most beneficial placement by maximising the numerator signal and minimising the denominator noise simultaneously. This work regards the location discriminant information as signal and the degree of unstable measurements of RSS as noise. The placement based on maximising SNR techniques shows considerable improvement of positioning precision and the best placement of APs is extremely asymmetric.

The approaches to describing and indicating the area to place APs of most of the other works are limited and inefficient. For example, in [78], their experimental area of  $195 m^2$  is partitioned into a grid of  $3 m \ge 3.5 m$  for placing the APs, so there are a total of 18 possible locations where an AP can be placed. In this approach, the area to place APs is dramatically reduced to 18 single points from a space of almost 200  $m^2$ , so that the probability to obtain the most-effective placement is reduced as well. Apart from using grid [76], defining the area by dimensions of a rectangle is the most common approach to specify the placement

space [79, 80]. The searching space is an open rectangle space without any limitation, and the AP can be placed anywhere inside the rectangle. If grid or rectangle is used to represent a searching space, the interference caused by obstructions in the indoor environment is ignored, so that the fitness of the optimised placement is affected as well.

In summary, the goal of all these techniques in the literature is to maximise the differential and diversity of the fingerprints or minimise the number of similar fingerprints. Most studies of the AP placement problem use the radio propagation model to predict signal strength, and most of the above works did not consider the obstacles in the positioning environment when the optimised AP placement is deployed. Furthermore, the placement results are displayed on preliminary floor plans that are usually drawn manually, e.g., using drawing software [78, 81].

#### **2.3.2** Use of Signal Patterns

The main problem leading to insufficient positioning accuracy is the inconsistent WiFi signals, which is caused by signal fluctuation, changes in the indoor environment and mobile device heterogeneity. Thus, in recent years various solutions are proposed to mitigate the influence of inconsistent WiFi signals by observing the signals from a broader view to generate patterns which can help improve positioning accuracy. The discovery and usage of several signal pattern are discussed as follows.

Even though in the fingerprinting-based positioning system the RSS values are simply used as the metric of fingerprint and not used to calculate the distance between the receiver and AP, the RSS values actually still correlate with the location of APs. The APs are usually scattered in the indoor environment. Thus the remarkable RSS values measured at certain area can be used as the WiFi landmarks to identify this area uniquely. These WiFi landmarks can be discovered when the site survey is completed and the RSS measurements of the whole site are available. Inspired by such observation, people are investigating the patterns of WiFi signals from the spatial aspect, which is called **spatial signal pattern**.

Initially the spatial patterns of individual APs are investigated and used to correct or constrain the location estimation, which typically needs to work with motion information

from inertial sensors and may not always be available since the APs are not densely deployed to form sufficient landmarks [82, 83]. Later on the spatial patterns of multiple APs are considered to investigate more reliable approaches. The order of RSS values from different APs is used in HALLWAY [84] as a location-dependent measurement to distinguish the rooms, which can reduce the influence of heterogeneous mobile devices and signal fluctuation. The effectiveness of the order of RSS values depends on the use scenarios and indoor floor plan, because the granularity of its location estimation is limited to a certain level and if the rooms are too small the adjacent rooms cannot be discriminated. Except for the order of RSS values, another approach to mitigating measurement uncertainty is to identify the target location using a range of RSS values rather than the absolute RSS values. Based on this observation, Sectjuntion [85] is proposed to partition the coverage of each AP to sectors according to discrete signal levels from the location where the AP shows maximum RSS value. The RSS sector calculation is conducted after the site survey is completed and takes the RSS measurements at RPs of the whole site into the calculation. The APs with a narrow range of RSS observations are filtered out of the RSS sector calculation because it discriminates fewer sectors. Then the target location is estimated using the intersection of sectors from multiple APs. The spatial signal pattern can help narrow down the search space and reduce the maximum error distance (i.e., in the positioning process to prevent the search space being a dispersed set of RPs, which are quite distant apart geographically).

In the conventional fingerprint-based positioning system, a fingerprint refers to the absolute values of RSS observed at a location (i.e., one of the RPs). As the previous statement, the movement, one-off RSS observation, device and usage diversity all could cause significant RSS variance. To minimise the influence of RSS variance, instead of looking at the one-off RSS value at one point, people are looking at the time-sequence values of RSS observed from a sequence of RPs, which is believed to be more robust than a single value.

**Temporal signal pattern** (TSP) is a sequence of WiFi signal observations during a shortterm movement in the indoor environment, which is observed over time domain. Compared with approaches that use signals observed at a single time and location, the temporal signal pattern is to make use of the correlation between sequential signals and moving trajectory, which is illustrated in Fig. 2.5. The temporal signal pattern along a movement is unique to the trajectory of movement. The temporal signal patterns are mainly characterised by its trend of change, including rising, decline and peaks.



Fig. 2.5 Illustration moving trajectory.

When a mobile device is moving along a trajectory, a set of time-sequence RSS values are observed and named as a temporal signal pattern of the moving trajectory, which is illustrated by the dashed curve in Fig. 2.6. The two dashed curves are the raw value of RSS observed by mobile devices of different setups. From the dashed curves we can see that the RSS is fluctuated significantly because of the movement and the average RSS is different under different device setup. Mobile device setup is depending on device model and device placement, such as placing in hand, pocket or bag. Therefore, using a one-off observation during movement and the absolute RSS values to calculate the position could lead to crucial positioning error. If we find the linear regression model of these two signal patterns by least-square regression, which is depicted by the solid lines in Fig. 2.6, we can see that their slope is nearly the same. The slope indicates the trend of RSS changes of the signal pattern. In such approach, examining the trend of changes instead of the absolute RSS values can address the RSS variance problem effectively.



Fig. 2.6 Illustration of temporal signal pattern when moving along a trajectory with different device setup.

On the other hand, the temporal signal pattern can be used to effectively determine the direction of the mobile device when leaving a junction. When a user is approaching and leaving a junction, the fingerprints of locations around the junction are very similar and it's very difficult to predict without other information like a compass. However, the continuous observation of RSS from certain AP will show a certain temporal signal pattern which can distinguish the direction that the mobile device is heading to. As the illustration in Fig. 2.7, different trajectory options at a junction can lead to different temporal signal trend, which is unique and can be used to determine the trajectory of the mobile device.

Kim et al. [86] propose a smartphone-based pedestrian-tracking system using WiFi, which utilises both spatial and temporal signal patterns. They deeply investigate the inconsistent RSS problem and their analysis shows that fingerprint-based indoor tracking suffers significant performance degradation due to the RSS variance, while the positioning of a stationary location is more robust to the RSS variance. In their system, an approach named Peak-based WiFi Fingerprinting (PWF) is proposed to overcome the inconsistent RSS problem. In the site survey the RSS vectors at different locations are collected as the traditional fingerprinting system, then the locations with maximum RSS of each AP are selected and recorded with the maximum RSS values. In the tracking phase the peak RSS is detected from



Fig. 2.7 Illustration of trajectory options at a junction and the corresponding temporal signal trend.

a sequence of observed RSS values and compared with the maximum RSS value recorded in the site survey. If the RSS value difference between the observed peak and recorded maximum value is less than a predefined threshold, the location with the observed peak is determined as the estimated location. Because RSS peak locations are limited and PWF has only about 20% occurrence ratio, other schemes such as traditional KNN method are used in the positioning of other locations. The PWF method improves the system accuracy by detecting the signal strength peak from temporal signal patterns but has the problem of potential missing scan of peak values.

Walkie-Markie [87] is a system that aims to generate the map of indoor pathway using the WiFi signal and IMU data crowd-sourced from multiple mobile phone users. The WiFidefined landmark (WiFi-Mark) is introduced in Walkie-Markie to act as the anchor to merge large volume of partial trajectories and limit the drift of IMU-based tracking. WiFi-Mark is defined as a location where the trend of an AP's RSS reverses, i.e., as the user moves along a pathway, the RSS reading is changing from increasing to decreasing. This approach by examining the RSS trend instead of RSS readings turns out that no matter how the devices are different and how the user is holding the device, the WiFi-Mark occurs at the same location, which shows the effectiveness of temporal signal patterns.

## **2.3.3** Fusing with other Data Source

In order to improve the positioning accuracy, other data sources in mobile devices such as inertial sensors, microphone and camera are utilised to assist the WiFi signals, which is a hybrid technique for indoor positioning. The hybrid approach is widely used in recent years due to the advances of sensors and other input components on the commercial mobile device. The approaches relying on the inertial sensors are also named as motion-assisted schemes, in which the walking trajectory are measured by the inertial sensors to fuse with estimated location by WiFi signals to achieve higher accuracy. The challenges using measurements of other sensors are the effective and efficient fusion models and schemes to consider multiple measurements [88–92].

With the pervasive application of inertial sensors on commodity mobile devices, the motion assistance is a classical hybrid technique for positioning. The inertial sensors in commercial smartphones consist of accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer. An accelerometer measures the 3D linear acceleration  $(m/s^2)$  or G-force (gravity) of the device. A gyroscope provides the angular velocity (radian/s) and measures the orientation in principle of angular momentum. Magnetometer gives the strength and direction of magnetic fields [18]. In the motion-assisted schemes, in order to fuse the motion with WiFi signals efficiently, the data obtained from inertial sensors need to be very accurate. However, the inertial sensors in commercial off-the-shelf smartphones usually suffer from bad calibration and noisy measurement [93]. In most recent works the inertial sensors are mainly used for

the data obtained from inertial sensors need to be very accurate. However, the inertial sensors in commercial off-the-shelf smartphones usually suffer from bad calibration and noisy measurement [93]. In most recent works the inertial sensors are mainly used for prediction of pedestrian's walking trajectory, which includes walking detection, step counting and stride length measurement [17, 94, 95]. Walk detection can be based on the identification of different motion states using thresholds in readings of an accelerometer. Step counting can be based on peak detection or zero crossing of acceleration readings. The walking distance can be obtained by multiplying step counts with the stride length, while in the real application the motion pattern is largely affected by users' heterogeneity. For example, the stride length depends on the step frequency and height of the user. Some advanced works utilise step models to calibrate the relationship between stride length and step frequency [96]. Some recent works propose online calibration of step counter by learning the stride length when the user is walking in the indoor environment with the information of indoor map [97]. Some more advanced works propose a calibration-free scheme which works transparently for heterogeneous devices and users [98]. In summary, the major challenges of motion-assisted positioning are calibrating and tuning the inertial sensors to minimise noisy measurements and adapting to different users' motion profiles [99, 100].

Researchers from Microsoft Research India [101] proposed a system that fuses RF and AR (Acoustic Ranging)-based positioning techniques into a single systematic framework that is based on Bayesian inference. The proposed framework is independent of the RF and AR schemes so that it allows users to adopt their preferred approaches to measure the RF and AR. Another recent work proposed a generic framework named Wi-Dist [102], which is applicable

to a wide range of sensing technologies. Wi-Dist enables indoor positioning with adaptive spatial and temporal mobile sensing independent of how distance is measured. Fusing fingerprints with mutual distance information potentially improves positioning accuracy. An experimental study of Wi-Dist is implemented based on WiFi, and their results show that Wi-Dist achieves more than 40% higher accuracy than state-of-the-art schemes.

## 2.4 Improving Deployment Efficiency

The explicit survey is the very traditional approach and extremely labour-intensive. Therefore, several other schemes are introduced to reduce the site survey cost. At the very early stage in 2010, to minimise the site survey effort, researchers from Microsoft India proposed an indoor positioning system, EZ, that doesn't require explicit site survey and doesn't build any radio map [56]. In this section, a couple of approaches to site survey in the fingerprint-based positioning system are introduced.

## 2.4.1 Explicit Crowdsourcing

Explicit crowdsourcing is also known as the folksonomy-based survey. To save the offline site survey time and adapt the latest environment change, the folksonomy-based survey manner was present and Redpin is a typical example [103]. In Redpin there is no designated offline site survey before the online positioning, thus at the first time to run localisation the radio map is vacant. During online positioning phase, if the real-time fingerprint cannot find any best-match one in the radio map, the system prompts the user to indicate the current location. And if the positioning result based on the existing radio map is incorrect, the user can revise the radio map by correcting location information of the fingerprint. Luo and Chen et al. [104] presented a more complex system using a similar idea called human-centric collaborative feedback.

## 2.4.2 Implicit Survey

In the most recent two years, to reduce the site survey time and manpower to the minimum, WILL [105] removes the traditional site survey and employs an automatic survey approach in which humans are not involved in the laborious survey work directly. Unlike traditional site survey, designated and dedicated people for site survey are not required. The moving staffs in the building such as securities are carrying the collecting device to conduct the site survey when they carry out their routine work. No manual operation is required and the WiFi fingerprint is collected when moving. After they traverse the entire floor, the collected data are processed to restore the motion. WILL adopts the fingerprinting-based approach, but the users are not involved in the explicit participation to collect WiFi fingerprint and label fingerprint with corresponding location information. The idea of WILL is through a combination of independent WiFi fingerprint with user motions to construct a logical floor plan under certain semantics. Then the mapping between logical floor plan and physical floor plan will be created automatically using some algorithms. In this way WILL could achieve an average room-level accuracy of 86 percent using an automatic site survey method without human participation [25, 46, 105–111].

## 2.5 Indoor Location and Map

To achieve indoor positioning the first and foremost step is to investigate the approach of specifying and presenting indoor location. The indoor map plays an important role to enable indoor positioning in the real world. However, most works in literature didn't introduce the details of their approach, and in most cases the indoor map system is not existing or implemented using a simplified approach. In this section, the typical approaches to present indoor locations in indoor positioning systems are discussed.

## 2.5.1 Presentation of Indoor Location

For outdoor positioning, most systems will utilise the standard geographic coordinate system (latitude and longitude) to indicate a specific location. However, there is not any standard coordinates system for an indoor environment. Thus, the method to present locations is the first problem that most positioning systems need to address. The types of location information can be categorised into the physical location, symbolic location, absolute location and relative location [31]. Physical location is represented by a point on a 2D/3D (3 dimensions) map in the form of coordinates. Symbolic location is expressed in a natural-language way, such as room C201. Absolute location uses a shared reference grid to identify all objects. Relative location is expressed by the proximity to the known reference locations. The coordinatebased geometric method is still the traditional geographic approach used by most positioning system [112]. Compared with symbolic identifiers such as location name or room number, the geometric coordinate system with graphical representation is the most straightforward method to indicate indoor locations and its environmental context. This is particularly the case for the positioning systems that update the users' location frequently and display the users' movement continuously. Three typical approaches used in fingerprinting-based indoor positioning systems are discussed in this section.

#### 2.5.1.1 Reference Grid

The reference grid model is widely used to construct the radio map, as the illustration in Fig. 2.8 in which the positioning area is divided into a coordinate grid with a granularity of one to two meters. The site survey covers the reference points of the whole grid, and the radio map contains the corresponding fingerprint of every point on the grid. An obvious drawback of reference grid is that, to balance the trade-off between granularity and accuracy, the numerous reference points on the grid result in time-consuming site survey process [113].



Fig. 2.8 Illustration of presenting indoor location using grid.

## 2.5.1.2 Symbolic Identifiers

Because fingerprint-based positioning is not based on the range measurements to estimate location, the coordinate-based geographic system is not necessary. A symbolic identifier is a non-geometric geographic method without coordinates to denote locations. A symbolic identifier is adopted by Redpin [103] in which the radio map is the mapping between WiFi fingerprints and symbolic identifiers like room number or name, thus the positioning result is expressed in a natural-language way rather than coordinates of conventional methods.

#### 2.5.1.3 Topological Floor Plan

The WiFi-based positioning is designed for generic location-sensing services based on offthe-shelf devices rather than high-accuracy systems using specialised hardware. Therefore room or region-level granularity of location should be able to provide sufficient context for most location-aware applications. As illustrated in Fig. 2.9, radio map based on topological floor plan is constructed using similar approach as occupancy grid, and the only difference is that the positioning area is divided into topological cells based on physical regions, such as room or corridor, rather than a point on the grid [113]. The topological floor plan will not only reduce the site survey time dramatically but also utilise the wall-penetrating effect of radio signals to make the recorded fingerprints to be distinguished in a more effective manner [46]. However, the topological floor plan is only suitable for the indoor environment consisting of dense rooms, rather than large open plan rooms.



Fig. 2.9 Illustration of presenting indoor location using topological floor plan.

## 2.5.2 Solutions for Indoor Map

The majority of the indoor maps or floor plans used for indoor positioning employ raster graphics [114]. Z. Peng [115] in 2004 proposes that Scalable Vector Graphics (SVG) has the ability to produce superior quality vector maps and has enormous potential to achieve interoperability. ArrayXPath [116] is a web-based service for mapping and visualising gene-expression profiles onto biological pathway resources, in which a clear separation of the data and the visual presentation brings immense benefits. R. Kamadjeu [117] uses SVG to develop a database-driven system generating interactive district-level country immunisation coverage maps and graphs, which demonstrates the potential of SVG technology in resource-constrained settings.

There are several reasons that the vector graphics has advantages over raster graphics. Firstly, the raster graphics is fixed pixel-based static and permanent image files that cannot be modified after creation, while the vector graphics are editable and the display resolution is adjustable. Thus the vector graphics show better resolution than raster images when zooming in and out the view. Secondly, the image content in the vector graphics is objective-oriented thus the objective of the image is retrievable and with customised properties. Finally, the coordinate of an object is one default and compulsory property of each objective in vector graphics. Therefore, if using vector graphics as the indoor map, the problem of both coordinate system and map visualisation is solved.

## 2.6 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, firstly, the different RF technologies and techniques used for indoor positioning are introduced, and the advantages and drawbacks of them are analysed and compared. Secondly, the existing solutions to improve the positioning accuracy and deployment efficiency are reviewed to identify the gaps needed to be addressed. Thirdly, the indoor location and map and its usage in the indoor positioning systems are discussed.

From the existing indoor positioning systems, we can see that the indoor location referencing and presentation is the essential component. Different approaches are used in the current systems, but none of them can meet the requirements of the increasingly complicated positioning technique and LBSes. We believe the indoor map will become pervasive and will be a crucial component to bring indoor positioning into practice. Thus, this thesis investigates the data structure to describe the information available in the indoor environment and the approach to implement it as an indoor map. The proposed indoor map system is presented in both Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

The APs play an essential role for the WiFi-based indoor positioning. The existing works on the optimisation of the AP placement illustrate that it could improve the positioning accuracy. The goal of all the techniques in the existing works is to maximise the differential and diversity of the fingerprints or minimise the number of similar fingerprints. Most studies of the AP placement problem use the radio propagation model to predict the RSS at the different location (i.e. RP). Most of the existing works did not consider the obstacles in the positioning environment when the RSS is predicted. However, the obstacles could lead to unpredictable RSS in the indoor environment because of multi-path fading and shadowing. Thus, this thesis proposes a map-assisted AP placement solution, which is presented in Chapter 3.

In the WiFi-based positioning system, the main reason for insufficient positioning accuracy is the inconsistent WiFi signals. In the existing works, some of them propose to utilise other signals to assist purely WiFi-based positioning or other metrics like measurements of channel state information instead of RSS. They have their advantages to outperform the RSS but meanwhile also involve new challenges like deployment difficulties. The primary benefit from WiFi signal is its ubiquity, which can provide easy-to-deploy and low-cost positioning solutions. Several recent works reveal that observing the signals from a broader view to generate patterns could mitigate the influence of inconsistent WiFi signals. Thus, this thesis profoundly investigates the ubiquitous WiFi signals and its opportunities to improve the performance of indoor positioning, especially in conjunction with information obtained from the indoor map. The work about positioning using signal patterns and pathway map is presented in Chapter 5. Besides, an instructed site survey is proposed to not only generate signal pattern but also improve the deployment efficiency.

Apart from the AP placement, the role AP plays in WiFi-based indoor positioning and its opportunities to assist positioning are further investigated. From the aspect of system architecture, most of today's systems are centralised on the mobile devices, which has some practical problems like excessive involvement or device variance. Also, considering the issue of energy consumption on mobile devices, the computation-intensive positioning tasks could be relocated. There are several existing device-free passive positioning solutions, but the accuracy or feasibility is still not satisfied. Therefore, in this thesis, an AP-centred positioning solution is proposed in Chapter 5, in which the fingerprinting technique is still utilised to keep the benefits from it.

## **Chapter 3**

# Map-assisted Access Point Placement for Positioning

To eventually fulfil indoor positioning using WiFi, the first and foremost step is AP placement, i.e., how to place WiFi APs to achieve effective positioning. In the fingerprint-based positioning using WiFi, the access points act as the beacons for WiFi-enabled mobile devices to work out their locations, so the quantity and placement of APs have significant influence for positioning performance. Several studies in the literature [76–78, 80] have revealed that the accuracy of indoor positioning using WiFi can be substantially improved by appropriate AP placement strategies. In other words, deploying the WiFi APs at the locations can help the mobile devices work out their location more precisely in a given indoor environment. If the quantity and placement of AP can be optimised and generated automatically by algorithms, it would be beneficial in real life for the deployment of WiFi-based indoor positioning systems, especially in the large-scale indoor environment.

In the literature works which optimised the AP placement for indoor positioning, most of them use the radio propagation model to predict the received signal strength and generate the optimised AP placement. Propagation loss model is a conventional model used to estimate the received signal strength at certain propagation distance. In these works, their propagation loss model does not consider the specific constraints in real scenarios such as the effect of obstacles like walls and time-varying changes due to moving people. While wireless signals often propagate via multiple paths because of the obstacles in the complex indoor environment and the obstacles can lead to loss of signal strength. Thus, without considering the obstacles in the indoor environment, the propagation loss model cannot provide correct RSS estimation.

To consider the obstacles in the indoor environment when optimising the AP placement, the dynamic objects like moving people won't be considered because the influence of them is not consistent. Among the stationary obstacles, the walls of the building are the main obstacle causing multi-path propagation and loss of signal strength when the signal is passing through, which have been observed when using WiFi router in our home. The main reason that the previous works failed to consider indoor obstacles is the nonexistence of indoor map that can present indoor environmental information such as walls, corridors and so on. In contrast, in this thesis, the work adopts advanced vector graphic technology where detailed map information such as walls and corridors can be explicitly expressed and thus the wallpenetrating effect of signals is taken into consideration for optimisation of AP placement to achieve more precise indoor positioning.

## **3.1 Introduction of Indoor Map**

In this work the location of indoor obstacles like walls need to be considered when placing the APs, so the geometrical information of floor plan is required to assist the system. As a result, the best approach to search the indoor multi-floor environmental context is building up a set of digital maps. Based on the digital map, it is convenient to indicate every location on every floor, which is the essential ability of every positioning system. Moreover, floor plans could provide a visualised approach to present the indoor environment, which could help the users to be clear about their exact location during both site survey and positioning phases. Finally, a significant role of the digital floor plans can assist the location estimation and tracking by considering the environmental context.

The indoor map is implemented using SVG as the vector image format. The indoor map is processed and generated following the procedure illustrated in Fig. 3.1. Firstly the raw

SVG file is produced either by drawing using Adobe Illustrator (AI) or similar SVG drawing software or by converting from other file formats, such as the most common Computer-aided Design (CAD) format used in construction design. Secondly, the raw SVG file of the indoor map is processed manually or automatically depending on file source. The goal of the process is to extract the useful data from raw SVG file and then save it to a new SVG file based on our format and data structure. Upon now the SVG file can provide a graphic representation of indoor map as Fig. 3.2. Finally, to make the indoor map accessible as data for AP placement or positioning algorithm, the data in the SVG file is retrieved into a database. In the database the elements of the indoor map needs to be updated, the changes can be edited in the database.



Fig. 3.1 Illustration of the indoor map generation process

The illustration in Fig. 3.2 is a visual representation of one specific floor in a building using vector graphics. The map covers not only the layout of walls and doors but also the semantic properties such as room numbers and types. Each floor plan has its own local coordinates system and belongs to building with floor identity. The object in the map is retrievable by its properties, such as the layout and size of the floor, outline of room and corridor, name and type of room, etc. For example, the coordinates of walls' vertex and doors of a room could be found through searching the room object by room name. Fig. 3.3 is the source code of SVG file representing the three simple rooms in Fig. 3.2.



Fig. 3.2 Illustration of the indoor map construction from individual rooms to completed map

```
<polygon fill="#FFFFFF" stroke="#000000" stroke-miterlimit="20"
    points="405.833,346.5 415.167,443.5 532.167,431.833 521.834,335.167 "/>
<polygon fill="#FFFFFF" stroke="#000000" stroke-miterlimit="20"
    points="414.833,447.833 424.5,544.834 540.834,534.5 530.75,437.167 "/>
<polygon fill="#FFFFFF" stroke="#000000" stroke-miterlimit="20"
    points="424.5,549.834 433.029,637.727 549.362,627.727 540.834,539.998 "/>
<text transform="matrix(1 0 0 1 448.5947 378.0977)"
    font-family="'ArialMT'" font-size="18">TC1.8</text>
<text transform="matrix(1 0 0 1 454.5947 498.0918)"
    font-family="'ArialMT'" font-size="18">TC1.7</text>
<text transform="matrix(1 0 0 1 472.5938 586.5879)"
    font-family="'ArialMT'" font-size="18">TC1.6</text>
```

Fig. 3.3 Illustration of the source code of SVG file for a sample map containing 3 individual rooms

Table 3.1 illustrated the structure of the table "locations" in the database that stores the information on an indoor map. Each location means a specified area rather than a single point. The most important field is the polygon, which specifies the vertexes of the polygon representing every location. If the category of a location is room, the walls of it can be found using the vertexes.

| id | name  | building | floor | category | polygon           |  |
|----|-------|----------|-------|----------|-------------------|--|
| 1  | TC1.8 | 1        | 1     | 2        | 1662.069,1446.386 |  |
|    |       |          |       |          | 1696,1798.993     |  |
|    |       |          |       |          | 2121.309,1756.582 |  |
|    |       |          |       |          | 2083.747,1405.190 |  |

Table 3.1 Database structure of table that stores the information on indoor map

## **3.2** Data Structure of Fingerprinting Technique

In fingerprint-based positioning, most systems consist of two phases: offline site survey phase and online positioning phase. The fundamental principle of fingerprinting technique has been discussed in the Section 2.2.2. The data structure of fingerprinting technique is presented in this section.

#### 3.2.0.1 Site Survey Phase

In the site survey process, a set of known locations in the interesting venue of positioning are selected as the reference points (RPs), as illustrated in Fig. 2.3, and WiFi received signal strength (RSS) from APs are collected at each RP. The dynamic and unpredictable nature of radio propagation caused by shadowing and multi-path fading leads to a significant variance of RSS observations. To obtain the RSS value that is the closest to the real observations for most of the time, increasing the sample size of RSS observations collected is a typical approach used to reduce the influence of variance of RSS observations. Thus, a set of time-series RSS values at each RP are collected in a successive period, which is called raw

RSS observation set and depicted as

$$\{\psi_{k,i}(\tau), \tau = 1, \dots, q, q > 1\}$$
(3.1)

where q is the number of sequential RSS values of  $AP_k$  observed at  $RP_i$ , for k = 1, 2, ..., M, i = 1, 2, ..., N, where M is the number of APs selected as beacons for positioning and N is the number of RPs in the interesting area [28]. q is not a constant and is varied with the change of  $AP_k$  and  $RP_i$ . Then the mean of the raw RSS observation set of each AP at each RP is computed and used as the value indicating the RSS of this AP at this RP. The average RSS value of  $AP_k$  at  $RP_i$  is

$$\psi_{k,i} = \frac{1}{q} \sum_{\tau=1}^{q} \psi_{k,i}(\tau)$$
(3.2)

where  $\psi_{k,i}$  is given -100 (or -90 in some work) if q = 0 (i.e.,  $AP_k$  is not observed at  $RP_i$ ), because the weakest signal observed is close to -100 but not less than -100.

The average RSS values of *M* number of APs at  $RP_i$  constitute the fingerprint of  $RP_i$ , which is

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_i = [\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1,i}, \dots, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{M,i}]^T, \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\psi_{k,i}$  for k = 1, 2, ..., M.

The fingerprint  $\phi_i$  of *M* number of APs and collected from *N* number of RPs compose the WiFi radio map, which is depicted as

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{1,1} & \psi_{1,2} & \cdots & \psi_{1,N} \\ \psi_{2,1} & \psi_{2,2} & \cdots & \psi_{2,N} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \psi_{M,1} & \psi_{M,2} & \cdots & \psi_{M,N} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4)

The WiFi radio map is saved as fingerprint database constructed in offline site survey phase and used for online positioning.

#### 3.2.0.2 Positioning Phase

In the online positioning process, when a user requests its current location information using its real-time RSS observation, the positioning algorithm retrieves the radio map from fingerprint database to compare the real-time RSS observation with the records of RSS observation of RPs in the fingerprint database. The real-time RSS observation at an unknown location is denoted as

$$\phi_0 = [\psi_{1,0}, \dots, \psi_{M,0}]^T, \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\psi_{k,0}$  for k = 1, 2, ..., M. *M* is the number of pre-selected APs used as beacons for positioning and  $\psi_{k,0} = -100$  if the *AP<sub>k</sub>* is not observed.

The recorded RSS observation of  $RP_i$  (i.e., the fingerprint of  $RP_i$ ) in radio map  $\Psi$  is

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_i = [\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1,i}, \dots, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{M,i}]^T, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $\psi_{k,i}$  for k = 1, 2, ..., M.

The similarity between real-time RSS observation  $\phi_0$  and fingerprint of each RP  $\phi_i$  is computed, and the similarity between them is determined based on the Euclidean distance between them, which is expressed as

$$d(\phi_0, \phi_i) = \|\phi_0 - \phi_i\| = \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{M} (\psi_{k,0} - \psi_{k,i})^2}$$
(3.7)

Finally, the location of RP with most similar RSS observation (i.e.,  $RP_i$  where  $d(\phi_0, \phi_i)$  is minimum among all the RPs) is returned to the user as the estimated location of user [28].

## **3.3** Formulation of AP Placement Problem

In this section, based on the principle of fingerprinting techniques the optimisation model of AP placement is presented firstly. Then the critical parameter and constraint (i.e., the total number of APs to deploy and the area where the APs can be placed) of the optimisation

model are discussed. The RSS attenuation caused by walls is a variable in the optimisation model, and the approach how the variable is obtained is discussed in the Section 3.4.

## **3.3.1 AP Placement Optimisation Model**

Based on the principle of fingerprinting-based positioning, if there are very similar fingerprints in the radio map, it's difficult to find the best-matched fingerprint of RP correctly. Thus, reducing the similar fingerprints of the radio map can improve the probability to find the correct location. The goal of the optimisation is to work out the locations of APs where the similarity between fingerprints of adjacent RPs can be maximised. To be more specific, for each RP its adjacent RPs within a specific range are obtained. As illustrated in Fig. 3.4, the  $RP_j$  is the adjacent RP of  $RP_i$ , and the similarity between the fingerprints of them can be increased by adjusting the locations of APs.



Fig. 3.4 Illustration of fingerprints of  $RP_i$  and  $RP_j$ 

As discussed in Section 3.2, the similarity between the two fingerprints is based on Euclidean distance. Therefore the increase of Euclidean distance means enhancement of difference between two fingerprints. As a result, to improve the positioning performance, the Euclidean distance among the fingerprints of RPs should be maximised, which makes it easy to distinguish different RPs.

To increase the difference and diversity of the fingerprints in radio map, this thesis presents the approach to maximise the sum of Euclidean distance among fingerprints of RPs, where the fingerprints are from selected APs among all the RPs. The work of AP placement is conducted when the APs are not deployed so that the work won't be based on real RSS measurement, and the RSS of an AP at a particular location needs to be predicted. Due to the multi-path fading and shadowing caused by obstacles in indoor environments, it is difficult to describe the characteristic of indoor radio propagation accurately. The log-distance path loss model is typically used to predict the RSS at a given distance, which is introduced in Section 2.2.1.1 and illustrated in Fig. 2.2. In this thesis, with the assistance of the indoor map, when predicting the RSS of an AP at an RP, the attenuation caused by walls is considered into the prediction of RSS using log-distance path loss model.

Proposed optimisation model:

maximize 
$$f = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j \in D_i} d(\phi_i, \phi_j)$$
 (3.8)

s.t. 
$$D_i = \{j | dist(RP_i, RP_j) \le r\}$$
 (3.9)

$$d(\phi_i, \phi_j) = \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{M} (\psi_{k,i} - \psi_{k,j})^2}$$
(3.10)

$$\psi_{k,i} = L_0 - 10n \log\left(\frac{\sqrt{(x_i - x_k)^2 + (y_i - y_k)^2}}{d_0}\right) - \varphi$$
(3.11)

$$(x_k, y_k) \in S \tag{3.12}$$

In the Eq. (3.8), f is the sum of the Euclidean distance of RSS array among all the RPs and f should be maximised, in which N is the number of RPs, and the value of N depends on the granularity of RPs and size of the interested area.  $D_i$  are a set of RPs whose geometric distances from  $RP_i$  are smaller than r, as shown in Eq. (3.9), where r is a constant and in the range of several meters. In the Eq. (3.7),  $d(\phi_i, \phi_j)$  is the Euclidean distance of fingerprints between  $RP_i$  and  $RP_i$ , as illustrated in Fig. 3.4, and M is the number of APs. Further discussion about determining the number of APs *M* is available in Section 3.3.2. In the Eq. (3.11),  $\psi_{k,i}$  is the RSS of  $AP_k$  at  $RP_i$  and predicted by the log-distance path loss model [53, 54, 118]. The geometric distance between  $RP_i$  and  $AP_k$  is calculated using their coordinates  $(x_i, y_i)$  and  $(x_k, y_k)$ .  $L_0$  is the known signal strength at a reference distance  $d_0$ and *n* is the path-loss exponent indicating the rate at which the path loss increases with the increase of distance.  $d_0$  is a constant and the value of *n* is estimated using empirical data in practice.  $\varphi$  is the signal strength attenuation caused by walls between  $RP_i$  and  $AP_k$ , which is defined in Section 3.4.2. In the Eq. (3.12), S is the area where the APs are placed and the location coordinates  $(x_k, y_k)$  of  $AP_k$  is constrained within S. The S is a constant in each site of positioning system and further discussion is available in Section 3.3.3.

## **3.3.2** Determining the Number of APs

In the AP placement optimisation model, the number of APs to be placed need to be provided in advance. The number of APs *M* is calculated by

$$M = \frac{A}{A_{AP} \cdot (1 - \rho)}, 0 < \rho < 1$$
(3.13)

where *A* is denoting the area of the floor,  $A_{AP}$  is denoting the coverage area of each AP, and  $\rho$  is denoting the coverage overlap ratio. Because the coverage area of each AP is rounded and the APs' locations are optimised for positioning purpose, to achieve higher coverage ratio there must be coverage overlaps from multiple APs. Thus the parameter  $\rho$  is introduced in Eq. (3.13) to set the overlap ratio, which is between 0 and 1. The overlap ratio  $\rho$  is a heuristic value and depending on the positioning and coverage requirement. Increasing the overlap

ratio leads to higher coverage ratio and better positioning accuracy, but cannot guarantee full coverage.

With the assistance of map, the coordinates of floor's vertices (e.g., corners) are already known so that the floor area *A* can be calculated by

$$A = \left| \frac{(x_1 y_2 - y_1 x_2) + (x_2 y_3 - y_2 x_3) \dots + (x_n y_1 - y_n x_1)}{2} \right|$$
(3.14)

where n is denoting the number of vertices in the floor. The Eq. (3.14) works for all polygon types (regular, irregular, convex, concave) to adapt to today's sophisticated buildings.

## **3.3.3 AP Placement Schemes**

In this work, two kinds of placement schemes are proposed, random placement and heuristic placement. Both of them use the same optimisation model to work out the placement, but they differ in the area where the APs can be placed, e.g., S in the formulation above. In random placement scheme, S is the full area of the floor, and all of the M number of APs are free to be placed within S.

In [119] a practice guide suggests that it is important to ensure that the APs are not solely clustered in the interior of floors. Some APs should be placed on the boundary along the perimeter of the floor to complement the APs located within floor interior area. Such approach to AP placement can ensure good location fidelity within the floor. Inspired by the empirical rules above, in heuristic placement scheme, the floor area is divided into two sections, inner area and the outer boundary. A selected number of APs are placed on the outer boundary, and the rest of APs are placed inside the inner area. The number of APs placing on the outer boundary  $M_o$  is determined by

$$M_o = \frac{\mu \cdot C}{A} \cdot M, 0 < \mu \le \frac{A}{C}$$
(3.15)

where M is the total number of APs deployed on the floor. C is the perimeter of the outer boundary. A is the area of the floor. The floor with irregular outer boundary has longer

perimeter compared with the floor with regular outer boundary. The irregular boundary causes more complicated signal propagation thus needs more APs placed on the outer boundary to improve the diversity of fingerprints. In this equation, only the proportion is concerned so that the units of both *C* and *A* are ignored.  $\mu$  is a scaling factor based on real environment, and 5 is chosen in our experiment.

## 3.4 Map-assisted AP Placement Optimisation

In this thesis, with the assistance of the indoor map, the RSS attenuation caused by walls is considered when predicting the RSS of an AP at a location. The attenuation is mainly depending on the thickness of the wall, the number of walls between and the angle of signal's arrival relative to the wall. Thus, in this section, a wall detection algorithm is provided to exploit the information of walls between an AP and an RP using the information of indoor map. Then the approach to calculating the RSS attenuation using the wall information is given.

## **3.4.1** Wall Detection Algorithm

With the assistance of the indoor map using vector format, the parameters required to calculate the RSS attenuation caused by walls can be obtained. As the example shown in Fig. 3.5, the number and angles of walls between RPs and APs are computed by retrieving the line segments representing the walls from the indoor map. A wall detection algorithm to calculate the number of walls and the angle of arrival corresponding to the walls, which the signal travels through from AP to RP, is proposed and the pseudocode is in Algorithm 3.1.

The proposed algorithm computes the intersection of the line segment representing the signal propagation path and line segments that denote the walls in the current floor. Firstly the counter i to count the number of walls that the signal travel through is reset to 0 and all the line segments representing walls W are marked as unchecked in Line 1 and 2. Line 3 starts the main loop that traverses the set of walls W to find the walls intersected with signal propagation path p. Line 4 allocates the line segment of next unchecked wall to q and line 5



Fig. 3.5 Illustration of walls between RP and AP on indoor map

#### Algorithm 3.1 Wall Detection Algorithm

Input:

*p* - the line segment representing the propagation path between AP and RP; W - a set of line segments representing the walls in the current floor. Output: *i* - the index of wall between AP and RP; A[i] - the angle of arrival corresponding to the wall. 1:  $i \leftarrow 0$ 2: Mark all the walls *W* as unchecked 3: while hasUncheckedWall do 4:  $q \leftarrow NextUncheckedWall$  $v \leftarrow GetAngleOfArrival(p,q)$ 5: if  $v \neq -1$  then 6:  $A[i] \leftarrow v$ 7:  $i \leftarrow i + 1$ 8: end if 9: Mark q as checked wall; 10: 11: end while

calls the function GetAngleOfArrival to check whether line segment q intersects with p and if it does the angle of arrival v is returned; otherwise, the returned value is -1. If q intersects with p, q is counted and the angle of arrival v is stored into array A (Line 6-9). At the end of each iteration, q is marked as checked. The above procedure is repeated until all the walls Win the current floor are checked. Finally, the number of walls that the signal travels through is returned by i, and the angle of the signal arriving at each wall is returned by A[i].

The GetAngleOfArrival function is used to calculate the angle of a signal arriving at the wall, which is implemented in Algorithm 3.2. The GetTheAngleOfArrival function checks whether the signal propagation path intersects with a specific wall and return the arrival angle of signal if intersected, otherwise just return -1. Between line 1 and 10, a comparison of the line segments' endpoints is used to quickly exclude the line segments that do not intersect, which is also called bounding box check. If bounding box check cannot determine whether two line segments intersect then further test work is required, as shown in case 5 of Fig. 3.7. In the function GetTheAngleOfArrival, it only checks whether two line segments intersect. If two segments do intersect, the angle of intersection is computed. Thus the value of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are not needed explicitly, and they only need to be tested against the range [0, 1]. The
#### Algorithm 3.2 GetAngleOfArrival Function

#### Input:

Output:

p - a line segment defined by two points  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ , which represents signal propagation path; q - a line segment defined by two points  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ , which represents wall.

angle of arrival  $\beta$  or -1 (no intersection)

1: **function** GETANGLEOFARRIVAL(*p*,*q*) 2:  $\Delta x_P = x_{P_2} - x_{P_1}; \Delta x_Q = x_{Q_2} - x_{Q_1}$ if  $\Delta x_P < 0$  then  $x_P^{low} = x_{P_2}; x_P^{high} = x_{P_1};$ 3: 4: else 5:  $x_P^{low} = x_{P_1}; x_P^{high} = x_{P_2};$ 6: 7: end if if  $\Delta x_Q < 0$  &  $(x_{Q_1} < x_P^{low} \text{ or } x_{Q_2} > x_P^{High})$  then return -1 8:  $\triangleright$  case 1 end if 9: if  $\Delta x_Q > 0$  &  $(x_{Q_2} < x_P^{low} or x_{Q_1} > x_P^{High})$  then return -1  $\triangleright$  case 2 10: end if 11: 12:  $\Delta y_P = y_{P_2} - y_{P_1}; \Delta y_Q = y_{Q_2} - y_{Q_1}$ if  $\Delta y_P < 0$  then  $y_P^{low} = y_{P_2}; y_P^{high} = y_{P_1};$ 13: 14: 15: else  $y_P^{low} = y_{P_1}; y_P^{high} = y_{P_2};$ 16: end if 17: if  $\Delta y_Q < 0 \& (y_{Q_1} < y_P^{low} \text{ or } y_{Q_2} > y_P^{High})$  then return -1 18:  $\triangleright$  case 3 end if 19: if  $\Delta y_Q > 0$  &  $(y_{Q_2} < y_P^{low} or y_{Q_1} > y_P^{High})$  then return -1 20:  $\triangleright$  case 4 21: end if 22:  $\Delta x_R = x_{P_1} - x_{O_1}; \Delta y_R = y_{P_1} - y_{O_1}$  $d = \Delta y_O \times \Delta x_R - \Delta x_O \times \Delta y_R$ 23:  $f = \Delta y_P \times \Delta x_O - \Delta x_P \times \Delta y_O$ 24: **if** f > 0 & (d < 0 or d > f) **then return** -1 25:  $\triangleright$  case 5 end if 26: if f < 0 & (d > 0 or d < f) then return -1 27: end if 28:  $e = \Delta x_P \times \Delta y_R - \Delta y_P \times \Delta x_R$ 29: if f > 0 & (e < 0 or e > f) then return -1 30: end if 31: if f < 0 & (e > 0 or e < f) then return -1 32: end if 33:  $\cos\theta = \frac{\Delta x_P \times \Delta x_Q + \Delta y_P \times \Delta y_Q}{\sqrt{\Delta x_P^2 + \Delta y_P^2} \times \sqrt{\Delta x_Q^2 + \Delta y_Q^2}}$ 34:  $\cos\beta = \sqrt{1 - \cos^2\theta}$ 35: return  $\beta$ 36: end function

test work is undertaken between line 11 and 18. After all the tests that confirm two line segments are intersected, the angle of intersection and angle of the signal arriving at the wall are computed in line 19 and 20 as shown in case 6 of Fig. 3.7.



Fig. 3.6 Illustration of the cases where two line segments that do not intersect can be determined by bounding box.

#### 3.4.2 Signal Attenuation Caused by Walls

The signal strength attenuation caused by walls between  $RP_i$  and  $AP_k$  is

$$\varphi = \omega \sum_{i=1}^{w} \frac{t_i}{\cos \beta_i}, \quad \omega > 0, \quad t_i > 0$$
(3.16)

where *w* is the number of walls between the AP and the receiver,  $t_i$  is the thickness of the *i*<sup>th</sup> wall,  $\beta_i$  is the angle of arrival corresponding to the *i*<sup>th</sup> wall, and  $\omega$  is the attenuation factor per wall thickness unit [55, 118].



Fig. 3.7 Illustration of the cases where bounding box check fails (case 5) and two line segments intersect (case 6).

#### 3.4.3 AP Placement Optimisation Using PSO

In this section, the approach to solve the optimisation model for AP placement is introduced. Particle swarm optimisation (PSO) is an evolutionary algorithm which optimises a problem by iteratively attempting to improve the result of a given fitness function [120][121]. The PSO is inspired and derived from the movement of organisms in a bird flock or fish school, where the easiest and most efficient way to find food is searching for the nearest bird or fish [122]. In PSO each particle in a swarm is a candidate solution in a population of solutions for the optimisation problem. The velocity of a particle determines the movement direction and speed of the particle to guide the movement of particles. To achieve optimisation in the multi-dimension searching space, the velocity is iteratively adjusted by observing the behaviour and experience of itself and its population [123].

At the beginning of PSO algorithm, a swarm of particles are initialised in the search space, and each has three properties of location, velocity and fitness to represent the status of the particle. The fitness of each particle is computed by the corresponding optimisation function in most cases to indicate the quality of the particle. The particle moves around with the current velocity, and the current fitness is compared with the previous fitness to find the best fitness and corresponding location. The particle's own best-known location and population's best-known location are both be recorded and used to update the velocities of the particles. The location and velocity update strategy based on the previous location with the best fitness is manipulated according to the following equations:

$$V_i^{k+1} = \lambda V_i^k + c_1 r_1 (P_i - X_i^k) + c_2 r_2 (P_0 - X_i^k)$$
(3.17)

$$X_i^{k+1} = X_i^k + V_i^K + 1 (3.18)$$

In the search space,  $X^k = (X_1^k, X_2^k, \dots, X_n^k)$  is the position of particle swarm with population of *n* and  $X_i^k = (M_1, M_2, \dots, M_D)^T$  is a vector of *D* dimension to represent the *i*<sup>th</sup> particle at the *k*<sup>th</sup> iteration.

In this section, X represents the locations of APs in a placement, and D is the number of APs need to be placed. M donates the coordinate of AP using an array of two variables to indicate  $(x_k, y_k)$ . The velocity corresponding to the  $i^{th}$  particle at the  $k^{th}$  iteration is represented as  $V_i^k$ .  $P_i$  is the best position of the  $i^{th}$  particle and  $P_0$  is the best position among the swarm. In Eq. (3.17),  $\lambda$  is the inertia weight allocated to the existing velocity.  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ are positive constants as the acceleration factors of individual particle and swarm.  $c_1$  affects the size of the step the particle takes toward its individual best candidate solution  $P_i$ .  $c_2$ represents the size of the step the particle takes toward the global candidate solution  $P_0$ . The values of  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  need to be tuned in the experiments for different scenarios and the values selected in this thesis are listed in Table 3.2.  $r_1$  and  $r_2$  are random numbers in [0, 1] to cause the velocity update has a stochastic influence [124]. Eq. (3.17) is used to update the velocity of next movement and Eq. (3.18) applies the velocity to the existing position.

# **3.5** Experiments and Results

#### 3.5.1 Experimental Setup

This section provides details on the experimental evaluation of the proposed AP placement algorithm. The experimental site is the first floor of Tony Rich Teaching Centre at the University of Essex Colchester Campus. The area of the floor is about 1200 square meters and contains 12 teaching rooms and a large lobby, as depicted in Fig. 3.2. The optimisation algorithm is implemented using Matlab on a Dell desktop (Windows 7, 2.8 GHz Intel i5 Processor and 4GB RAM) to search for the optimised AP placement. The positioning system including both site survey and positioning process is implemented in Java as an application that runs on Android mobile devices. The application is installed on a smartphone of HUAWEI Ascend P6 model running Android 4.4.2 with IEEE 802.11b/g/n WiFi adaptor. The WiFi scanning rate of the positioning application is set to once every 500ms. All access points are of TP-Link WR1043ND model that is compliant with IEEE 802.11 b/g/n standards. The deployment of APs in vertical space is not considered in this paper. The experiments are carried out in the daily-used public venue where installation of APs on the ceiling is not allowed, so the APs are placed on the floor for ease of deployment.

The efficiency of the placement algorithm is to be measured by the positioning accuracy. The benchmark used is an AP placement algorithm without map [12]. The impact of walls is explicitly investigated. The proposed algorithm is going to be evaluated under two different placement schemes: random and heuristic. In addition, the reasonable value for the number of iterations in the PSO is also investigated and demonstrated to guarantee the convergence and efficiency. As the indoor positioning algorithm is not the focus of this work, we just employ the classic KNN algorithm for this purpose, which is the most simple and typical deterministic matching algorithm.

The constant parameters of the experiment are defined in Table 3.2.

#### 3.5.2 Map-assisted Prediction of RSS

In this thesis, the log-distance path loss model is used to predict the RSS of WiFi signals at reference points, and the AP placement is optimised based on the predicted RSS. In our work, a wall detection algorithm is presented, and the attenuation caused by the walls is considered into the log-distance path loss model ((3.11)). To ensure the AP placement optimisation model can work properly, this log-distance path loss model and its parameters are evaluated in this section.

| Parameter                                           | Value                     |
|-----------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|
| reference distance $d_0$                            | 1 <i>m</i>                |
| signal strength at reference distance $L_0$         | -28 dBm                   |
| comparable RP distance r                            | 10 m                      |
| path-loss exponent n                                | 2.2                       |
| attenuation factor per wall thickness unit $\omega$ | 5                         |
| particle swarm population                           | 10                        |
| inertia weight of existing velocity $\lambda$       | 1                         |
| acceleration factors $c_1$ and $c_2$                | 1.49445                   |
| proportion of overlap $\rho$                        | 0.5                       |
| AP coverage area $A_{AP}$                           | 314 <i>m</i> <sup>2</sup> |

Table 3.2 Constant parameters of the experiment

The Fig. 3.8 shows the heat map of the observed RSS from an AP in the experimental site. The heat map shows the RSS declines with the increase of distance to the AP. The strongest RSS observed is around -45 dBm, which is about 2 meters away to the AP without obstacle. The RSS fluctuates between -60 and -80 dBm in most time. Because without the access to the rooms the RSS is only observed in the corridor. These RSS observed are used as the benchmark to evaluate the precision of the map-assisted log-distance path loss model considering the attenuation of walls.

The RSS from this AP is firstly predicted by the log-distance path loss model (i.e., Eq. (3.11) without the attenuation factor  $\varphi$ ), which also doesn't consider the Gaussian random variable that reflects attenuation. Since it's an empirical model, the coefficient parameters used in this model is selected based on measurements in the real world.  $L_0$  is the known signal strength at a reference distance  $d_0$  and n is the path-loss exponent indicating the rate at which the path loss increases with the increase of distance. The parameters used in the experiment are provided in Table 3.2. The Fig. 3.9 illustrates the distribution of RSS on the indoor map, which shows a very linear decrease from the AP. Compared with the observation from real-world measurements, overall the predicted RSS is stronger than observation, and the attenuation shows a very slow drop, which reveals significant deviation between them.



Fig. 3.8 Heat map of the RSS observed in the experimental site.



Fig. 3.9 Heat map of the RSS predicted by the FSPL model.

In this work, the RSS attenuation caused by walls are considered and formulated, which is depicted as Eq. (3.16). The effectiveness of it and the coefficient parameter  $\omega$  indicating the attenuation factor per wall thickness unit are investigated. The number of walls and the signal's angle of arrival relative to the walls between AP and RP are obtained from the proposed indoor map system using the wall detection algorithm discussed in Section 3.4.1. The RSS attenuation calculation formula takes over the information of walls. In our work the thickness of walls of our experimental building is considered to be the same, i.e., wall thickness unit  $t_i$  of the  $i^{th}$  wall is constant 1. The attenuation factor per wall thickness is determined based comparison with real-world measurements. The Fig. 3.10 shows the RSS predicted by the log-distance path loss model that considers the attenuation of walls (Eq. (3.11)), where different attenuation factor per wall thickness is applied. In Fig. 3.10 only the area where the RSS is above -90 dBm is shown on the indoor map. The increase of attenuation factor causes the decrease of RSS dramatically and reduces the coverage area of the AP. The difference between observed and predicted RSS using different attenuation factor is compared in all the locations where the RSS are observed, which is evaluated by the cumulative distribution function (CDF), as illustrated in the Fig. 3.11. Setting the attenuation factor to extreme small (i.e.,  $\omega = 2$ ) or extreme large (i.e.,  $\omega = 7$ ) can lead to excessive error. Through the comparison in Fig. 3.11, when  $\omega = 5$ , the RSS prediction is the same to the observation in about 30% of the prediction and most cases the RSS deviation is less than 10 dBm, which is the range of typical signal fluctuation in an indoor environment. Thus, the attenuation factor as 5 is selected to be used for the optimisation model of AP placement.

#### **3.5.3 PSO Configuration and Evaluation**

The reasonable number of iteration is determined from a number of experiments. Fig. 3.12 illustrates the climb of fitness with the increase of iterations up to 5000 and 1000 respectively in random and heuristic placement. In random placement scheme, the fitness function becomes stable after 2500 iterations. The slight rise between 4500 and 5000 is about 2% improvement but costs nearly double number of iterations, so it is ignored. While in heuristic placement, due to the limitation of the area where AP could be placed, the searching space is







Fig. 3.11 CDF of the difference between predicted and observed RSS (dBm) using different attenuation factor per wall thickness.

reduced. Therefore the fitness function converges much faster than that of random placement. The heuristic placement achieves convergence at around 500 iterations, 5 times faster than random placement, which indicates that the heuristic placement is a more efficient scheme. As a result, the number of iteration for random and heuristic placement is set as 2500 and 500 respectively in the following experiments.

Moreover, through the comparison of y-axis in Fig. 3.12, we can see that the peak fitness value of optimised placement by random scheme exceeds that by the heuristic scheme eventually, which means the heuristic way compromises the diversity of fingerprints. Further evaluation of positioning accuracy reveals whether the compromise is worthy or not. Also, the top graph in Fig. 3.12 shows that the trend of the stepwise curve is not smooth. The fitness jumps sharply and suddenly at particular iteration, and it remains unchanged at a specific level for hundreds of iterations. That accurately demonstrates the drawback of PSO that it is easily be trapped into a local minimum or maximum, which is named as premature convergence.



Fig. 3.12 Plots of the number of iteration in PSO to achieve convergence between random (top) and heuristic (bottom) placement strategy.

#### 3.5.4 Results of Optimised AP Placement

The placement results computed by different placement schemes are illustrated in Fig. 3.13. For the given indoor floor plan, 8 APs are required through the calculation using Eq. (3.13). The AP locations chosen by the random scheme are evenly distributed in the floor layout. Most of them are away from the outline of the floor. A few of APs are adjacent to each other, which is not preferred because abundant APs at the nearly same location does not help the positioning system and the APs located closely cause interference to each other. Heuristic scheme adopts the empirical rules from previous research and industrial products. A selected number of APs are placed evenly on the outline of the floor. In this case of 8 APs totally, 5 of them are placed on the outline, and the rest are placed in the centre area.



Fig. 3.13 Plots of the placement results computed by different placement schemes: random and heuristic placement, shown in red triangles and blue dots respectively.

#### 3.5.5 Effectiveness of AP Placement for Positioning

Since the AP placement is optimised for indoor positioning, the effectiveness of AP placement is evaluated from the aspect of positioning accuracy. The location error distance of the positioning system using the AP placement generated by both heuristic and random schemes are evaluated by the CDF of location error distance, which is illustrated in Fig. 3.14. The mapassisted optimisation model is adopted for both schemes. Overall the heuristic placement shows better effectiveness because it overtakes random placement all the way from beginning to the end. The heuristic scheme does not show a substantial advantage for the relativelyaccurate positioning results, e.g., the cases where the location error distance is within 2 meters. Both schemes have probabilities of about 50% to maintain the location error distance within 2 meters. However, for the CDF over 50%, the positioning accuracy of random scheme falls behind heuristic scheme dramatically, and the difference grows up significantly at the later stage. Under 90% situations, the location error distance of heuristic scheme is about or less than 4 meters, and there is a nearly 2-meter lead compared with the random scheme. The gap between them increases gradually and eventual the location error distance of random scheme rises nearly up to 11 meters. In conclusion, the AP placement using heuristic scheme shows advantages over the random scheme and especially can reduce the maximum location error distance, i.e., the worst cases can be avoided.

An optimisation model that removes the wall detection and walls' attenuation calculation is proposed to evaluate the effectiveness of considering the attenuation of walls into the prediction of RSS, which is called none map-assisted placement. The Fig. 3.15 compares the positioning accuracy of AP placement using optimisation model with and without map assistance, where the heuristic scheme is used for both cases. In general, the Fig. 3.15 reveals that map-assisted placement has better performance than none map-assisted placement in all the circumstances. The percentage of location error distance within 3 meters achieves approximately 70% in the map-assisted placement, while that achieves less than 56% in the none map-assisted placement. In 90% of the positioning results, the placements with and without map assistance provide positioning accuracy of 4m and 5.5m respectively. Through the comparison of the location error distances when the CDF reaches 1, it is apparent that the



Fig. 3.14 Plots of CDF of location error distance by heuristic and random scheme using map-aided placement.

maximum location error distance of none map-assisted placement is almost 10 meters, while the placement with the assistance of map can decrease it to 7 meters. In summary, it is the witness that the map-assisted AP placement helps the positioning system obtain optimised performance.

# 3.6 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, an indoor map system adopting vector graphic technology is first introduced. Then an optimisation model for AP placement in fingerprint-based indoor positioning system is proposed to improve the accuracy of the positioning system. The wall information of the indoor map is utilised thoroughly in the optimisation model. The effectiveness of it has been verified by applying its generated placement to a KNN-based positioning system, and the accuracy has been analysed. The performance of our map-aided placement with heuristic scheme has been compared with none map-aided placement and placement without the heuristic scheme, i.e., random placement. The results have shown significant improvement



Fig. 3.15 Plots of CDF of location error distance in heuristic placement using map-aided and no map-aided optimisation model.

of the map-aided placement, and especially it reduces the maximum location error distance dramatically. The work of this chapter has been partially published in [125].

# Chapter 4

# Positioning using Signal Patterns and Pathway Map

In this chapter, the work is proposed based on two key observations in conventional fingerprint-based positioning systems. Firstly, the RSS observations used in both site survey and positioning stages are readings of absolute values. However, the MHs involved in either stage are usually different in hardware, and the MHs are held in a different orientation and places, such as on the hand or in the pocket. Both device diversity and usage diversity cause severe RSS variance, which is well-known practical concerns in real-world deployment [86]. The use of absolute RSS value could result in a certain error of positioning accuracy. Secondly, the RSS observation is collected by an MH at each discrete reference points in site survey process. To obtain best observations reflecting real RSS values, in practice the person holding the MH is usually in stationary and collecting many samples at each reference point. While in positioning process the MH is in movement and RSS is observed by the MH in moving state. Movement causes fluctuation of RSS and much fewer samples at each location depending on the speed of movement, which could lead to massive error when comparing with RSS observed in site survey stage.

# 4.1 Analysis of WiFi Signal Observations

To decide how to use the WiFi signals efficiently and adequately, the WiFi signals in our experimental site, i.e., central campus building at University of Essex Colchester Campus, are deeply analysed. Each single AP is uniquely identified by the Basic Service Set Identifier (BSSID). Around 200 APs are observed during the 25 seconds' movement.

The pie chart of Fig. 4.1 (left) shows the percentage of observed APs with different appearance frequency (denoted by N) when a mobile handheld is moving along a corridor for 25 seconds. With the increase of appearance frequency, the number of APs decreases significantly. Around one-third of APs are observed only once and about a quarter of APs are observed for more than three times. The AP is appearing fewer times normally means its signal strength are weak and it can be observed only within a short period. The bar chart of Fig. 4.1 (right) shows the distribution of observed APs in 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz frequency band respectively. The APs of 5 GHz dominates the observations with smallest and largest appearance frequency, which reveals that 5 GHz channels may be less crowded and weak signals in 5 GHz are more likely to be observed than that in 2.4 GHz [126].



Fig. 4.1 Analysis of WiFi signal observations: occupancy of 195 observed APs with different number of observations (left) and frequency band (right).

Through empirical investigation of the WiFi networks in our experimental site, one primary reason caused the excessive number of APs is the virtual access point (VAP) functionality of enterprise WLAN infrastructure, which allows one physical AP to have multiple separate WLAN with its BSSID and SSID (service set identifier). Along with VAP, another

reason is the AP's Simultaneous Dual-Band functionality that enables each WLAN to operate in both 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz frequency band, which uses two different BSSID but the same SSID. In this paper, we name the APs from the same physical AP as **sibling APs**.

The idea of fingerprint-based positioning was initially proposed based on the principle that several APs located at different places can provide different RSS observations in different observation point. However, nowadays the APs observed by users are heterogeneous, and some of them are coming from the same physical AP, i.e., the RSS observed from multiple APs are transmitted from the same location. Thus, the concept of **sibling signal patterns** (SSP) is proposed to describe the correlation between the sibling APs.

The sibling signal patterns are investigated in our work. Since the VAPs from the same physical AP share the same radio frequency, which has been verified in our experiment, we believe the signals of these VAPs suffer similar interference in the environment, and the RSS of them observed at the same location are supposed to be the same. This thought is proved by the real data collected in our experiment, which is depicted in Fig. 4.2. The top and bottom bar chart in Fig. 4.2 shows the time-series RSS observations of VAPs operating in both 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz frequency band respectively, which are observed by a mobile device moving along a corridor for 25 seconds. In total, there are 9 BSSID coming from the same physical AP. The bar charts illustrate that the RSS of VAPs coming from the same physical AP and operating in the same frequency band are almost identical at the same time and location. Apart from fluctuation caused by complex environment, the minor difference of RSS between VAPs may also come from the measurement tolerance of the mobile device. At certain locations, the APs with weak signals are not observed. In general, the RSS observations in 5 GHz has better integrity than that in 2.4 GHz.

# 4.2 Pathway Map

Like the outdoor map in which the road is the skeleton, and the points of interests (PoI) are referenced by road name and number, we believe in the indoor space the pathway is the vital



Fig. 4.2 The RSS observations of VAPs operating in 2.4 GHz (top) and 5 GHz (bottom) frequency band from the same physical AP when moving along a corridor for 25 seconds.

part of the indoor map, and most indoor activities are related to people's movement along the pathway.



Fig. 4.3 Illustration of pathway map.

The data of indoor map is structured by the Scalable Vector Graphic (SVG) format and contains the polygons representing rooms' outline, coordinates of rooms' door and polylines indicating the corridors. Based on these data the pathway map is generated to represent the available indoor walking routes between rooms, i.e., the possible path people may move along. Fig. 4.3 shows the structure of pathway map. Pathway map is depicted in diagrammatic form as a set of dots for the nodes, joined by lines for the path segments. The nodes are constituted by path nodes and room nodes. Path nodes and room nodes are represented by its ID and its coordinates are stored in a table of nodes entries. Each path segment is directed and expressed by its start node ID, end node ID, length and type. Path segments are divided into two types: access and trunk. Access path segment is a dedicated link connects corridor to the centre of a room. Trunk path segment is the path shared by all the people walking around to reach different rooms.

#### 4.2.1 Data Structure of Pathway Map

The pathway map is G = (V, E), where V is a non-empty set of nodes and E is a set of ordered pairs of these nodes to represent path segments. A path segment  $e \in E \subset V \times V$ ,

where e = (u, v) and  $u, v \in V$ . A path segment (u, v) is considered to be directed from u to v, where u is start node and v is end node.

The data of nodes are stored as an array, and the path segments are stored as an adjacency matrix to represent the connectivity between nodes. As the illustration in Fig. 4.4, a pathway map with *n* nodes  $\{v_1, v_2, ..., v_n\}$  can be represented by an  $n \times n$  adjacency matrix *A*, in which  $a_i j$  is the number of path segments joining  $v_i$  and  $v_j$ . As the path segment is directed, in the adjacency matrix the entry in the row is the start node, and the entry in the column is the end node.



Fig. 4.4 Illustration of pathway's nodes and its adjacency matrix representing the connectivity between nodes.

### 4.2.2 WiFi Signals Collected on Pathway Map

A path segment is a directed line segment consisting of a sequence of points in the corridor and defined by a start node and an end node, as illustrated in Fig. 4.5. When the mobile handheld of a surveyor is moving along a path segment, a set of continuously observed raw RSS from surrounding APs are collected.

The RSS observation collected at path segment  $e_i$  from K number of APs is denoted as

$$\mathbf{S}_i \equiv (\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_K), \tag{4.1}$$

| Notation       | Description                           |
|----------------|---------------------------------------|
| G              | A pathway map                         |
| v              | A node in the pathway map             |
| е              | A path segment                        |
| $\mathbf{S}_i$ | RSS values observed from $e_i$        |
| $\mathbf{T}_i$ | Observation timestamps from $e_i$     |
| Κ              | Number of APs                         |
| Ν              | Number of observations                |
| $\mathbf{x}_k$ | RSS values from $k^{th}$ AP           |
| $x_n$          | RSS value of the $n^{th}$ observation |
| $b_k$          | BSSID of $k^{th}$ AP                  |
| $f_k$          | Frequency of $k^{th}$ AP              |

Table 4.1 Part Of The Notations.



Fig. 4.5 Illustration of a path segment where the WiFi signals are collected.

where  $\mathbf{x}$  denotes a vector of time-series RSS observation value x with size of N, which is denoted as

$$\mathbf{x} \equiv (x_1, \dots, x_N)^{\mathbf{T}}.\tag{4.2}$$

The number of observations N can be different in  $\mathbf{x}_k$  from different APs.

With the RSS observation  $S_i$ , the corresponding observation timestamp of the RSS values are collected as well, which is denoted as

$$\mathbf{T}_{i} \equiv (\mathbf{t}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{t}_{K}), \mathbf{t} \equiv (t_{1}, \dots, t_{N})^{\mathrm{T}}$$

$$(4.3)$$

Meanwhile the BSSID and frequency of APs are also recorded and denoted as

$$\mathbf{b} \equiv (b_1, \dots, b_K)^{\mathrm{T}} \tag{4.4}$$

and

$$\mathbf{f} \equiv (f_1, \dots, f_K)^{\mathbf{T}}.\tag{4.5}$$

#### 4.2.3 Instructed Site Survey

In the site survey phase, a dedicated surveyor holding a mobile device is walking through the pathways to build up the database of fingerprints. Because the signal pattern is binding to path segment and path segment is directed, the surveyor is required to not only cover every path segment but also walk through the path segment in both directions. To not miss any path segment and give the surveyor a step-by-step instruction to collect signal patterns, a guided console is provided and running on the surveyor's device, meanwhile more importantly an algorithm to select next path segment for surveyor is proposed.

The surveyor in the site survey phase need walk through the whole pathway map to collect the signals and its patterns relative to pathway map. To make sure the surveyor cover all of the path segments easily, a path segments traversal algorithm is proposed to provide an instructive walking route. Its pseudocode is in Algorithm 4.1.

Algorithm 4.1 Path Segments Traversal (PST) Algorithm

Input: G - a directed graph of pathway map; *v* - a starting node to traverse. 1: call function PST(G, v)2: **function** PST(graph G, node v)  $V \leftarrow G.ad jacentNodes(v)$ 3: for  $i \leftarrow 1$  to V.size do 4:  $u \leftarrow V_i$ 5: if (v, u) is uncollected then 6: collect signal pattern along path segment (u, v)7: mark path segment (u, v) as collected 8: PST(G, u)9: end if 10: end for 11: 12: end function

The Algorithm 4.1 is searching the whole pathway map and selecting the next path segment iteratively from a staring node, i.e., the place where the surveyor starts the site survey work. The algorithm takes a graph representing the pathway map and a starting node as the inputs, which are parsed into function PST in line 1. The parameters of function PST are a graph of pathway map and a node where the surveyor is located at that time. Line 3 searches for all the adjacent nodes of the node in the graph and saves it into an array. Each adjacent node in the array *V* is checked by copying it to *u*. The adjacent node *u* and current node *v* forms a path segment (v, u), i.e., one of the available path segments to walk next from current node *v*. If the signal pattern of path segment (v, u) has not been collected, this path segment is selected as the next path segment, and the surveyor is walking and collecting signal pattern along it (line 6-7). Then the path segment (v, u) has been collected, and node *u* becomes the current node the surveyor staying at (line 8). The PST function is called again using *G* and *u* as inputs. If the signal pattern of path segment (v, u) has been collected then next adjacent node is to be checked until the signal patterns of all the path segments in the pathway map G are collected.

## **4.3 Beacon APs Generation**

The analysis of WiFi signals concludes that the overall quantity of available APs is massive and the appearance frequency of APs differs significantly. Using all the observed APs for positioning leads to high computation complexity and may cause additional errors. Thus, the overall quantity of APs need to be reduced, and quality of APs needs to be evaluated and filtered. Eventually, only a small portion of high-quality WiFi signals are used for positioning.

The analysis reveals that the VAPs from the same physical AP present similar observed RSS. Thus, the concept of **Beacon AP** is proposed and a Beacon AP is defined as a delegation to the VAPs from the same physical AP and in the same frequency. The fingerprints of Beacon APs are finally saved into fingerprint database and used for positioning.

#### 4.3.1 Beacon AP Generation Algorithm

The steps to generate Beacon APs using sibling signal patterns are as the pseudocode in Algorithm 4.2. The Beacon AP generation algorithm takes the raw observations of WiFi signals from each path segment as input and generates Beacon APs of the path segment as output. Firstly, considering strong signal (i.e., signals with large RSS value) shows higher confidence than weak ones and APs appearing fewer times are relatively weak. Therefore APs with low appearance frequency are filtered out. A threshold indicating appearance frequency is used to control the APs which need to be removed. Secondly, the remaining APs are divided into groups by their frequency. Each group may contain APs of the same frequency but from more than one physical APs because more than one APs may operate at the same frequency. Thus, thirdly, the APs in each group are grouped again to form the cluster of APs which are at the same frequency and from the same physical AP, i.e., the VAPs from a physical AP. The approach to cluster the VAPs is based on empirical practice and theoretical verification. Finally, each VAP cluster is processed to generate a Beacon AP. The processed observation of signals in different stages are illustrated in Fig. 4.6 using one path segment of our experimental site as an example.

```
Algorithm 4.2 Beacon AP Generation Algorithm
```

```
Input: S, T, b, f
Output: W - RSS values of Beacon APs.
      // Step 1: remove APs appearing few times.
  1: Max \leftarrow maximum size of \mathbf{x}_k in \mathbf{S}.
  2: for each \mathbf{x}_k \in \mathbf{S} do
  3:
           if size f(\mathbf{x}_k) < Max \times 0.7 then
                 remove \mathbf{x}_k from \mathbf{S}
  4:
           end if
  5:
  6: end for
      // Step 2: group remaining APs by frequency.
  7: q \leftarrow number of different frequency appeared in f.
  8: \mathbf{v} \leftarrow \mathbf{a} vector of size q to store the unique frequencies.
  9: \mathbf{M} \leftarrow \text{initialize } q \text{ number of groups.}
10: for each \mathbf{x}_k \in \mathbf{S} do
           add \mathbf{x}_k to group \mathbf{m}_a where f_k == v_a
11:
12: end for
      // Step 3: cluster the VAPs in each frequency group.
13: for each \mathbf{m}_q \in \mathbf{M} do
           \mathbf{r} \leftarrow initialize a vector of size k.
14:
           r_k \leftarrow b_k without last 4 bits.
15:
           \mathbf{D} \leftarrow \text{cluster } \mathbf{x}_k \text{ of the same } r_k
16:
           for each d \in D do
17:
                 u_{k,l} \leftarrow Euclidean distance between \mathbf{x}_k and \mathbf{x}_l
18:
                 if u_{k,l} > Et & sizeof(d) > 2 then
19:
                      \mathbf{C} \leftarrow \text{add cluster } \mathbf{d} \text{ into } \mathbf{C}
20:
21:
                 end if
           end for
22:
23: end for
      // Step 4: generate Beacon AP of each cluster.
24: p \leftarrow sizeof(\mathbf{C})
25: W \leftarrow initialize to store RSS values of Beacon APs.
26: for each \mathbf{c}_p \in \mathbf{C} do
27:
           \mathbf{s}_n \leftarrow \text{add } x_n which has less than 1s difference in t_n
28:
           w_{pn} \leftarrow mean(\mathbf{s}_n)
29: end for
30: return W
```





#### 4.3.1.1 Clustering VAPs

The empirical practice is that the BSSID of VAPs from the same physical AP normally has a certain correlation. The MAC address of AP is usually used as the BSSID and contains 48 bits. The MAC addresses of VAPs in the same physical AP are usually the same except last 4 bits. Thus, VAP key is defined as {*BSSID*[1 : 44], *Frequency*}, for example, {24:de:c6:c3:5b:b, 2412}. The VAPs are identified and clustered based on their keys. To make sure the empirical practice always work correctly, the clustered VAPs are verified by checking the similarity between signal patterns. The similarity between temporal signal patterns from two APs is determined based on the Euclidean distance between them, which is denoted as

$$u_{kl} = \sqrt{\sum_{m=1}^{M} \{\mathbf{x}_{k,m} - \mathbf{x}_{l,m}\}^2}$$
(4.6)

where M is the number of RSS observations in which both APs appear at the same timestamp and in the same channel. If the Euclidean distance between any two APs in the cluster is larger than the threshold, the VAPs in this cluster may not be from the same physical AP, and this cluster is abandoned and not used for the further process.

#### 4.3.1.2 Beacon AP Finalisation

Before the clustered VAPs are used to generate Beacon AP, the number of VAPs in each cluster is checked against a threshold, and if it is too few, we can believe the VAPs in this cluster have fewer opportunities to be spotted. Our experiment also shows the VAPs in the cluster of small size have relatively weak signal strength. Thus, only the clusters with more than two VAPs are kept to generate Beacon APs. Finally, in each cluster, if the observations of different VAPs are captured in the same time, the mean of their RSS values is computed and used as the RSS value of Beacon AP at that timestamp, which is then used to construct the RSS map (i.e., fingerprint database) for positioning.

#### 4.3.2 Construction of Beacon AP RSS Map

To map the signal observations to the spatial locations, the reference points are employed like most fingerprint-based approaches [28]. However, the RPs proposed in our work are closely associated with pathway map, and the nearby RPs can easily be identified, which can ease the prediction and reduce the searching space if needed in the positioning phase. Each RP's identity is coded as [P.S.I], where P is the ID of path segment where the RP exists, S is the number of RPs existing in this path segment, and I is the sequential number of this RP in S. For example, RP [238.5.2] and [238.5.3] are adjacent to each other. Furthermore, RPs from adjacent path segments can also be retrieved by querying the pathway map.

The RSS of Beacon APs processed from raw signal observations are mapped to the indoor map to form RSS map of Beacon APs. The RSS map consists of RSS from Beacon APs at RPs of each path segments. The RSS from P number of Beacon APs at N number of RPs of path segment  $e_i$  is denoted as

$$W_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} w_{1,1} & \cdots & w_{1,N} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ w_{P,1} & \cdots & w_{P,N} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(4.7)$$

where  $w_{pn} = -100$  if Beacon AP p is not observed at RP n, because the weakest signal observed is close to -100 but not less than -100. Because in the Beacon AP generation algorithm the APs appearing few times in the path segment have been removed, we believe the Beacon AP can be seen in the path segment for most of the time. The number of RPs of each path segment is determined based on its length. Since Beacon APs are elected based on path segment and just represent signal patterns over that path segment, size and identity of Beacon APs in different path segments are not consistent, as illustrated in Fig. 4.7. The RSS of each Beacon AP is shown on map as illustrated in Fig. 4.8



Fig. 4.7 Illustration of Beacon APs Map at RPs on Path Segments.



Fig. 4.8 RSS of different Beacon AP at RPs along path segments.

# 4.4 Signal Coverage Constraint

Based on the fact that the signal from an AP only covers the surrounding area of AP, geographically distributed APs lead to geographically dispersed signals patterns. Observation of spatial signal patterns can hence be used to constrain the searching space into a limited area.

By processing the raw signal observations using sibling signal pattern, the Beacon APs are generated as quality-improved metrics to represent the surrounding signal measurements along path segments. The same Beacon AP may appear in different path segments, most probably in adjacent path segments. The number of RPs of each path segment is determined based on the length of path segment and walking speed of the surveyor in the process of the site survey. The number of Beacon APs depends on the number of available raw APs and length of the path segment. At our experimental site about 7-10 Beacon APs are elected in a path segment of 10 meters' length. The Fig. 4.9 illustrates the distribution of beacon APs' appearance in the RPs using some of our experimental samples in a two-dimension scatter diagram, where the AP with RSS of -100 (i.e., AP unobserved) is not shown to reveal the real-world observations. As the illustration in the Fig. 4.9, there are 41 RPs in the 4 continuous path segments and 28 Beacon APs in total are elected over these path segments. Each Beacon AP is typically shown in a group of continuous RPs, which can take up one or two adjacent path segments. The geographical distribution of RPs from the same Beacon AP shows strong aggregation. Thus, the spatial patterns of multiple Beacon APs can be used to constrain the searching space of user's location.

To obtain a better-visualised insight of the spatial signal pattern, the Fig. 4.10 illustrates the geographic mapping between beacon APs' appearance and pathway map using the signal observations collected over several continuous path segments in our experimental site. Based on the spatial signal pattern, the concept of **signal coverage constraint** (SCC) is proposed. The signal coverage constraint is intended to check if the current observed Beacon APs match the Beacon APs elected for each path segment in the fingerprint database. Through signal coverage constraint, the user's potential location can be limited to one specific path segment, or more than one in some cases when the Beacon APs of more than one path segment are



Fig. 4.9 Illustration of mapping Beacon APs to reference points based on the signals collected at our experimental site.

similar and all match the current observation. The approach we define the match is that the Beacon APs of current observation can take up that of the path segment for more than a threshold, which is signal coverage constraint ratio (SCC ratio). For example, when SCC ratio is 80%, if 8 out of 10 Beacon APs of a path segment are shown as Beacon APs of the current observation, then this path segment is considered as the area of users' potential location. In such approach, the search space can be reduced to a small area consisting of the RPs of this path segment.

# 4.5 Positioning Schemes using Signal Patterns

#### 4.5.1 System Architecture

The system consists of the mobile client on users' smartphones and backend service running on the cloud server. As the system architecture depicted in Fig. 4.11, the system is divided into two phases: offline site survey and online positioning. In the offline phase, a dedicated surveyor holding an MH running Signal Pattern Collection (SPC) module is instructed to collect raw RSS observations. Then the server-side Signal Pattern Processing modules



Fig. 4.10 Illustration of mapping Beacon APs to pathway map based on the signals collected at our experimental site.

process the collected signal patterns for use in online phase. In the online phase, positioning module is running on the targeted MH to observe the real-time signal pattern and compare it with the signal patterns in the database to compute the location of a device. The system consists of three databases to store indoor map, signal patterns and raw RSS observations respectively. Database of signal patterns contains the signal pattern from multiple APs at the pathway, where locations are referenced by indoor map database.



Fig. 4.11 System architecture of positioning using temporal signal patterns

#### 4.5.2 Positioning Schemes

#### 4.5.2.1 Robust Searching Scheme

In the robust searching scheme, the search space is the RSS map of the whole site, consisting of all the reference points over the path segments. All the RPs are candidate RPs, and the similarity between the fingerprint of RP and the real-time measurement is the Euclidean distance between the RSS vectors of all the APs shown at the RP. If any AP is not shown in the real-time measurement, the RSS value of -90 is given to the AP. The KNN algorithm is used to find the best-matched fingerprint of RPs where K=1, and the location of the best-matched RP is the estimated location.

#### 4.5.2.2 Selective Searching Scheme

An extensive search space can lead to not only dispersed positioning results but also very high computation cost. Thus, inspired by spatial signal pattern, a selective searching scheme is introduced by adding the signal coverage constraint function to the robust searching algorithm. In the selective searching scheme, the candidate RPs are selected by checking the APs' signal coverage, as discussed in Section 4.4. The selective searching scheme can narrow down the search space. For each path segment in the RSS map, the mutual APs appeared in both the path segment and current observation are obtained. The number of mutual APs is checked against the total number of APs of this path segment because the path segment are present. The selective searching scheme works as the pseudocode in Algorithm 4.3.

Algorithm 4.3 Selective Searching Algorithm

```
Input:
h_0 - RSS observation values;
W - RSS map;
r - SCC ratio.
Output:
L - coordinate of user's location.
  1: \mathbf{a} \leftarrow \text{get all the APs of } h_0
  2: \mathbf{e} \leftarrow initialize an array to save similarity to each \mathbf{x}_k
  3: for each \mathbf{x}_k \in W do
            \mathbf{b} \leftarrow get all the APs of \mathbf{x}_k
  4:
            n \leftarrow get number of APs in a
  5:
            \mathbf{c} = \mathbf{a} \cap \mathbf{b}
  6:
            if sizeof(\mathbf{c})/sizeof(\mathbf{b}) > r then
  7:
  8:
                  e_o \leftarrow calculate Euclidean distance between \mathbf{x}_k(\mathbf{c}) and \mathbf{h}_0(\mathbf{c})
  9:
                  e_k \leftarrow e_o/sizeof(\mathbf{c})
            end if
 10:
11: end for
12: L \leftarrow get location of x_{min(\mathbf{e})}
13: return L
```

The selective searching algorithm (Algorithm 4.3) takes current RSS observation and RSS map as inputs and outputs the estimated location. The SCC ratio is used to control the proportion of mutual APs. If the path segment passes the SCC ratio check, the RPs of the

path segment becomes candidate RP, and the Euclidean distance between the RSS vectors from mutual APs is calculated. The Euclidean distance divided by the number of mutual APs is used as the similarity between the RP and current observation. Finally, the candidate RP of smallest similarity value is elected as the estimated location.

# 4.6 Evaluation

#### 4.6.1 Experimental Setup

We develop the prototype in which the site survey and positioning modules are implemented on Android platform and the Beacon AP generation module on Matlab. All the data collected on Android smartphone are saved into SQLite database, which is retrieved by Matlab to process and then send back to the smartphone to fulfil positioning eventually. The experiments are conducted on the 5th floor of the central campus building at the University of Essex Colchester Campus, which is about 50 meters' length, as depicted in Fig. 4.12a. Since the positioning performance of movement in corridors is our main concern and corridors are just all accessible area, the office or seminar rooms are not covered in our experiment. The site is covered by about 50 wireless APs (250 VAPs) of Aruba which belongs to the campus WiFi infrastructure mounted on the ceiling.

The system is evaluated from several aspects, and the major benchmark is the raw AP RSS scheme, i.e., the traditional approach used by many systems. Multiple positioning schemes, raw AP RSS, Beacon AP RSS and selective searching schemes with different SCC ratio, are implemented in the Android app and allow users to switchover in the setting menu, as illustrated in Fig. 4.12c. In raw RSS scheme, reference points are sampled approximately every 3-5 meters, and each RP is trained for around 10 seconds. In the Beacon AP RSS scheme involving sibling signal patterns, the space is profiled by site survey at a steady speed (about 1 meter per second), as shown in Fig. 4.12b. In positioning stage, no matter what scheme is applied, the positioning result is shown as a red dot on the map, as shown in Fig. 4.12d. In the evaluation of the accuracy, ground truth is marked by tapping the real location on the map and saved into positioning logs. Location error is defined as the


(c) positioning schemes selection

(d) positioning result

Fig. 4.12 Illustration of implementation on Android app.

Euclidean distance from the estimated location to ground truth. Meanwhile, some other data such as real-time observed APs and candidate RPs in positioning algorithm are also recorded into positioning log sat in SQLite database.

#### 4.6.2 Effectiveness of Beacon APs

As the RSS variance is a significant problem of WiFi-based positioning, the effectiveness of sibling signal pattern is evaluated against different device setups. As described in Table 4.2, two devices with different physical setup and software setting are employed to evaluate positioning performance while the site survey is conducted by Huawei P9. As shown in Fig. 4.13, in this test Beacon AP RSS leads raw RSS in the overall performance. Beacon AP RSS scheme provides positioning result within 2 meters from the ground truth in over 90%. The maximum location error distance is reduced by 2 meters to just over 3 meters against raw RSS scheme. The critical point is how two different schemes are affected in M4 setup. Based on raw RSS the location error is amplified when the MH running positioning module is not the MH performed the site survey. Under such situation using Beacon AP RSS, the positioning accuracy is also affected, but just a small drop, which reveals Beacon APs generated by sibling signal patterns are more robust to device variance.

| Setup | Device Model | Platform Version | WiFi Scan Frequency |
|-------|--------------|------------------|---------------------|
| P9    | Huawei P9    | Android 6.0      | every 4s            |
| M4    | Xiaomi 4     | Android 5.0      | every 6s            |

Since the Beacon APs are generated based on RSS observations collected in the movement while the raw RSSs are collected in the stationary, the positioning accuracy is evaluated in both stationary and moving state. As illustrated in Fig. 4.14, Beacon AP RSS scheme offers the best performance when the MH is in movement. When the Beacon AP RSS scheme is used in the stationary, the performance decreases a bit, and its maximum error distance overtakes raw RSS scheme in the stationary. We believe the Beacon AP RSS scheme performs better in the movement because the Beacon APs and their RSSs are generated from RSS observations in the movement. While the raw RSS scheme in the movement performs



Fig. 4.13 CDF of location error distance using different device setups.



Fig. 4.14 CDF of location error distance in different usage scenarios.

worst. From which we can see Beacon AP RSS scheme are more suitable for application scenarios of moving MH.

During the positioning process the number of APs observed, Beacon APs generated and the respective location error distance are all saved in the positioning log. Based on the data from positioning log, the relationship between location error distance and number of Beacon APs used for positioning are shown in Fig. 4.15. The positioning accuracy is increasing with the increase of the number of APs. Compared with Fig. 4.16, which illustrates the relationship between accuracy and number of APs observed, the number of APs used for positioning is reduced dramatically by using Beacon APs. The number of APs observed in most cases is around 40 to 70.



Fig. 4.15 Relationship between location error distance and number of Beacon APs generated in robust searching scheme.

#### 4.6.3 Effectiveness of Signal Coverage Constraint

The selective searching scheme utilises the signal coverage of APs to narrow down the search space by filtering the candidate RPs through the SCC ratio. To evaluate the effectiveness of signal coverage constraint and the influence of different SCC ratio, experiments of the



Fig. 4.16 Relationship between location error distance and number of APs observed in robust searching scheme.

robust searching scheme and the selective searching scheme using different SCC ratio are conducted. As the CDF shown in the Fig. 4.17, the robust searching scheme (i.e., none SCC) performs worst overall and with the maximum error distance of more than 12 meters. With signal coverage constraint, the accuracy is improved dramatically. Even though with SCC ratio of 40%, the maximum error distance is reduced to around 6 meters. With the increase of SCC ratio, the accuracy keeps increasing. When the SCC ratio is 80%, the accuracy is within 1 meter in all cases, which means the estimated location is always the nearest RP. The change of positioning accuracy affected by SCC reveals that constraining the estimated location through the signal coverage of APs can give the positioning accuracy huge boost, especially it can reduce the maximum error distance significantly.

The signal coverage constraint can improve the positioning accuracy massively, but it can lead to the problem that no candidate RP matches the online measurements, and hence no estimated location can be provided. In the positioning phase, for every location estimation job when the latest WiFi scan results are available, the number of measured APs, number of APs used in estimation and the candidate RPs are saved into logs. The Fig. 4.18 illustrates the CDF of the number of candidate RPs occurred when it is filtered using different SCC



Fig. 4.17 CDF of location error distance using different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme.



Fig. 4.18 CDF of number of candidate RPs using different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme.



Fig. 4.19 CDF of number of APs used for similarity calculation of positioning using different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme.



Fig. 4.20 CDF of number of APs used for similarity calculation of positioning using different SCC ratio in selective searching scheme excluding the cases when no location can be found.

ratio. From which we can see that, with the increase of SCC ratio the probability that no candidate RPs are available is increasing at a growing pace. When the SCC ratio is 80% there is about 60% probability that no positioning result can be given, which is also shown in Fig. 4.19. The number of APs used for positioning excluding the cases where no location can be found is illustrated in Fig. 4.20. We can see the number of APs does increase with the increase of SCC ratio, and better accuracy can be provided as shown in Fig. 4.17. However, the availability of service (i.e., no positioning can be given) is decreased. Thus, a trade-off between accuracy and availability is existing, and we think SCC ratio of 60% is the best choice. The number of APs used for positioning and its accuracy when SCC ratio is 60% are shown in Fig. 4.21, which shows the accuracy is increased when more APs are used for positioning. However, there is an exception when the number of APs is 8, which should also reflect that these worst cases occur at the same location



Fig. 4.21 Relationship between location error distance and number of APs used for positioning in selective searching scheme when SCC ratio is 60%.

#### 4.6.4 Efficiency Comparison

Apart from positioning accuracy, the system efficiency is becoming another significant concern in the real-world deployment. In the site survey stage, the Beacon AP RSS approach

can cover corridor of 20-meter length for less than 30 seconds. However, the traditional predefined RP iteration method can take more than 5 minutes depending on the grid size of RPs and sample size at each RP.

As the plot in Fig. 4.22, compared with the size of all raw APs detected, by using Beacon APs as the fingerprints of RPs the number of APs is reduced dramatically. At each path segment, the number of APs is only about one fifth of all raw APs detected, which can reduce the dimension of fingerprint database significantly.



Fig. 4.22 Plot of bar chart showing the number of APs of raw APs detected and Beacon APs generated at some of path segments in the experimental site in offline site survey.

In the positioning stage, the RSS matching algorithm that calculates the similarity between RP and real-time RSS observation spends most computational resource and energy. The computation cost of RSS matching algorithm mainly depends on the size of RSS vector (i.e., the number of APs) and the number of candidate RPs to search for the best-matched location. As shown in Fig. 4.23, the number of APs used for location estimation in the Beacon AP approach is about 30% of that using raw AP. Using Beacon AP reduces the size of RSS vector to less than 20 in most cases. With the assistance of signal coverage constraint, the

size of candidate RPs is also decreased significantly, as illustrated in Fig. 4.18. Beacon AP and SCC together reduce the computation cost dramatically.



Fig. 4.23 CDF of the number of candidate RPs from positioning log.

# 4.7 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, the sibling and spatial signal patterns are investigated. A positioning approach using Beacon APs and signal coverage constraint is proposed and shows better performance in both positioning accuracy and efficiency. In conclusion, the spatial and temporal signal patterns can help reduce the problems caused by signal fluctuation and improve the positioning accuracy. To the best of our knowledge, the sibling signal pattern (i.e., signals from multiple virtual APs which are transmitted from the same physical AP) is firstly defined and investigated to be used for positioning. The only work in the literature utilised the virtual AP feature for positioning is [127], where they mentioned that averaging the RSS values of signals from the same physical AP over time can obtain more stable RSS values. But, they failed to provide details about how the signal observations are processed to identify the virtual APs and afterwards used for positioning.

However, the signal patterns only work well under the certain area of an indoor floor plan. In the experiments, for the path segment which is relatively short-distance, it has just a few number of RSS observations, in which case the Beacon AP cannot be generated, so other strategies like limiting the minimum length of path segment are necessary to be considered in the future work. Meanwhile, the site survey needs to accommodate the required approach of collecting signals, and these signals need to be processed to generate the features of signal patterns. In this thesis, the information of indoor map is used to assist the discovery and usage of signal patterns in both site survey and positioning to achieve better accuracy and efficiency. The work of this chapter has been partially published in [128, 129].

# Chapter 5

# Access Point-centred Positioning with Fingerprint Technique

In terms of the architecture of WiFi-based indoor positioning systems, the mainstream approach is MH-based. In the MH-based architecture, most functional modules are running on the MH. The APs only act as the beacons to provide WiFi signal and don't participate in any positioning work. The MH includes WiFi collection module to scan the surrounding APs actively and frequently, location computing module to run the positioning algorithm and storage module to store the indoor map and fingerprint database if fingerprint technique is used.

Based on the fact of existing MH-based system, there are several problems. Firstly, the software installation on MH is inevitable so that the user of MH must be involved in advance. The MH involvement can be a real problem in the commercial scenarios where the user of MH does not use the location information directly, such as shopping malls analysing the customers' movement. Secondly, to support simultaneous positioning of multiple MHs, not only the positioning modules need to be installed and running on each MHs, but also the consolidation of each MH's positioning results is required, which causes further deployment overhead and communication cost. Thirdly, all the modules of positioning system are deployed on the MH, where the computing resources and battery capacity are limited [25, 36, 89–91].

In this chapter, an AP-centred indoor positioning system is designed, developed and evaluated to address the problems of the MH-based system. The major contribution is as follows.

- An AP-centred system architecture is proposed to fulfil the positioning of single and multiple target devices. Also, the protocols among AP, MH and positioning server are proposed.
- The widely-used fingerprint technique in traditional MH-based positioning is combined into the AP-centred architecture to achieve better accuracy.
- The AP-centred approach shows improved accuracy in comparison with the MH-based approach. The energy-consuming WiFi scanning and location computing modules are both be moved from MH to AP, which relaxes the battery limitation issue on MH.

## 5.1 System Architecture and Protocols

#### 5.1.1 Preliminary Architecture

The architecture of the proposed system is depicted in Fig. 5.1. The system consists of a Joint Positioning Server (JPS), a set of APs, a Web User Interface (UI) and a WiFi-enabled Mobile Handheld as a survey MH. On the JPS there is a Receiving interface and a Sending interface, which connect the JPS to external devices (e.g., APs and Web UI). Each AP measures the MH's WiFi signal strength and then sends it to the Receiving interface of JPS. The positioning results computed by JPS are exposed by the Sending interface. In our proposed system the Sending interface sends the positioning results to a Web UI, which can be any other kind of device to display or utilise the positioning results.

On the JPS, the Fingerprint Collection Module (FCM) is used in offline site survey phase, and the Location Computing Module (LCM) is used in online positioning phase. The FCM includes a Fingerprint Collector running on survey MH to assist the FCM. In offline phase, the FCM saves fingerprints to the Fingerprint Database (FD), which serves the LCM in online



Fig. 5.1 Architecture of proposed system

phase. The FD contains MH's WiFi signal strength received by the APs at reference points, whose locations are referenced by Indoor Map Database (IMD). The IMD is composed of geographic data (e.g., coordinates system) and visualised presentation on top of that to support the system. Also, a timer is used to control the frequency of AP detection and location computing.

The sequence diagram of the proposed system is depicted in Fig. 5.2, which illustrates the collaboration and message passing among JPS, survey MH, APs and Web UI. The survey MH is involved in offline site survey phase only, and Web UI is just active in online positioning phase.



Fig. 5.2 Sequence diagram of proposed system

In the offline phase, a set of RPs are selected in the interesting area. The survey MH conducts the site survey work by iterating through all the RPs. Firstly, the Fingerprint Collector running on survey MH enables Wi-Fi background scanning module to ensure the MH is always visible to each of the APs. At each RP, Fingerprint Collector starts the survey process by allowing the surveyor to select the location of RP on the indoor map. The survey

MH sends the location to JPS, and the surveyor need stay at the RP. Then the JPS sends a fingerprint (FP) request to all the APs, which gather the received signal strength (RSS) of the survey MH. The RSS collected by all the APs are returned to the JPS. The FCM on JPS processes the RSS collection with RP's location as an FP record, then save it to the FD. A round of survey ends, and the surveyor moves to the next RP. The overall time stayed at each single RP depends on the system setting and ranges from 20 to 30 seconds.

In the online phase, the APs are periodically detecting the surrounding anonymous MHs and sending the RSS of MHs to the JPS. The format of the data sent from AP to JPS is illustrated in Fig. 5.3. The timer on JPS controls the interval of location computing. For each MH, the PCM receives the RSS of it from all different APs and retrieves the FD to compute the location of MH. This process for different MHs can be running simultaneously to fulfil multiple MH positioning. The location of MH is sent to the Web UI for monitoring or analysing purpose.



Fig. 5.3 Format of the data from AP to JPS

### 5.1.2 Enhanced Architecture

An enhanced architecture of the proposed system is provided and depicted in Fig. 5.4. The system is built and running based on modules located in two places: i) the WiFi infrastructure deployed in the site and covered the area of interest and ii) the in-cloud centralised server sitting at a location where computation and storage resources can be provided, which can be

either the traditional cloud in the datacentres or the mobile cloud in the edge of the Internet and closed to the WiFi infrastructure (i.e., end users). The modules located in the WiFi infrastructure can naturally use the Internet connection provided by WiFi infrastructure to communicate with the in-cloud centralised server. The indoor positioning service is exposed to the Internet from the in-cloud centralised server, hence if the end users of MDs want to consume their own location information they can reach via a 3G/4G link or through the WiFi link (if the MD is connected to the WiFi infrastructure). Placing the in-cloud centralised server to the edge of the Internet can reduce the transmission latency and improve the realtime performance of positioning service, especially when the end users want to consume their indoor location information directly [130].

The Sniffer Module (SM), installed over each AP of the WiFi infrastructure involved in the positioning service, can obtain the RSS of the MD at each AP. The WiFi-based positioning makes use of the management frames, which is designed for the maintenance of communication in the IEEE 802.11 specification [131, 132]. In the traditional MDbased system, the RSS of AP received by the MD is obtained through calling the API (Application Programming Interface) of the MD's operating system (e.g., Android), and the RSS information is extracted from the WiFi beacon frame or probe response frame sent from AP, which depends on the operating system of MD. In contrast, in the proposed AP-centred positioning system, the SM on AP obtains the RSS of MD received by the AP from the WiFi probe request frame sent from the MD. In Fig. 5.4 RSS values are represented with small coloured rectangles where the colour level indicates the amount of power from MD sensed by a specific AP (a red rectangle for  $AP_1$ , a green rectangle for  $AP_2$  and a blue one for  $AP_M$ ). The RSS data obtained from each SM are then sent over the Internet to the in-cloud centralised server.

The in-cloud centralised server will process the data from WiFi infrastructure depending on the Phase Selector (PS) configuration: *i*) training (offline site survey) phase or *ii*) positioning (online) phase. During the training phase, the RSS values are stored in a database called Real-Time RSS Database (RTRD), located within the In-Cloud Centralized Server. Successively, such RSS data are used by the Fingerprint Collector (FC) to map the RSS data to a reference point and build the Radio Map that will be stored on the RadioMap Database (RMD) (see the indoor environment RadioMap icon in Fig. 5.4). On the other hand, when the positioning phase is occurring, RSS data are used by the Positioning Module (PM) which runs to compute the location of the MD from the previously stored RadioMap. Such information, extracted from the RMD (see the mobile device estimated position icon in Fig. 5.4), is then back-propagated towards the MD if the end user wants to obtain their position. Otherwise, the position of MD can be shown on a monitoring console for the third-party usage.

## 5.2 Online Joint Positioning

The fingerprinting technique is the same as the description in Section 3.2. In offline phase, a collection of known locations in the positioning venue are selected as the reference points (RPs). The WiFi received signal strength (RSS) of MH by APs are collected at each RPs. In the online positioning phase, providing the fingerprint database and the live RSS readings from the same set of APs in the fingerprint database, the positioning algorithms compute the most similar fingerprint and find the corresponding location stored in the database.

The KNN (K-Nearest Neighbours)-based positioning algorithm is proposed to compute the location of an MH, whose pseudocode is in Algorithm 5.1. The KNN algorithm is a nonparametric method used for classification in pattern recognition. The proposed positioning algorithm needs online RSS reading of an MH  $\psi_0$  and fingerprint database  $\Psi$  as inputs. The output is the computed coordinate indicating the MH's location on the indoor map.

The main steps of the algorithm are as follows. At first, the number of fingerprints in the database is counted and saved to *j*. Then the *minED* that stores the minimum Euclidean distance is initialised to MAXVALUE and the *minEDid* that indicates the fingerprint with minimum Euclidean distance is initialised to 0. Line 5 starts the main loop of the algorithm that traverses the matrix  $\Psi$  to find the fingerprint record with minimum Euclidean distance to the online RSS reading. In line 7 the Euclidean distance between each fingerprint and online reading is calculated using the Eq. 3.7 and saved into temporary variable *ED*. Following the



Algorithm 5.1 Online Joint Positioning Algorithm Input:  $\psi_0$  - an online RSS reading of a MH;  $\Psi$  - a fingerprint database of the interesting area Output: *L* - a coordinate indicating the MH's location 1:  $i \leftarrow$  number of fingerprint records in database 2:  $minED \leftarrow MAXVALUE$ 3: minEDid  $\leftarrow 0$ 4:  $i \leftarrow 0$ 5: while i < j do  $\psi_i \leftarrow \text{RSS}$  reading of fingerprint *i* 6:  $ED \leftarrow$  calculate similarity between  $\psi_i$  and  $\psi_0$  using Eq. 3.7 7: if *ED* < *minED* then 8:  $minED \leftarrow ED$ 9: *minEDid*  $\leftarrow$  *i* 10: end if 11: 12:  $i \leftarrow i + 1$ 13: end while 14:  $L \leftarrow$  retrieve coordinate of fingerprint  $\psi_{minEDid}$ 15: **return** *L* 

above process, the *minED* is checked with every *ED* to update the *minED* and the ID of the fingerprint with *minED* is saved into *minEDid*. The above procedure is repeated until all the fingerprints in the database are examined. Finally, the corresponding coordinate of the fingerprint with  $\psi_{minEDid}$  is stored into *L* and returned by the algorithm.

## 5.3 Evaluation

#### 5.3.1 Experimental Setup

This section provides details in the experiments of the proposed system. The experiments are conducted at the 5th floor of Network Building in the Colchester Campus of University of Essex. The area of the experimental site is about  $300 m^2$ , including a large lobby, a common room, offices and hallway, as depicted in Fig. 5.5. The site is covered by 8 wireless access points of the same model (NETGEAR WNDR 4300V1), and these APs are placed on the

floor. All the APs have the OpenWRT 15.05 firmware installed, support IEEE 802.11 b/g/n standards and work on the 2.4 GHz frequency band. Since the firmware is not explicitly designed for network traffic monitoring purpose, we developed a specific packet-sniffing program installed in the APs in order to sniff Probe Request of 802.11 management frames that are emitted from surrounding WiFi-enabled wireless devices. During the experiment, the packet-sniffing program is running at each of the APs and responsible for saving the captured data into a MySQL database in the remote server. There is also an Apache Tomcat lightweight web application server deployed on the same PC (Windows 10, 3.20 GHz Intel i7 Processor and 16GB RAM) as the database server. The mobile handheld used in the experiment is Samsung Galaxy S6 Edge running Android 5.1.1. All the devices mentioned above are connected wirelessly to set up a WLAN infrastructure. To reduce the cost of building the fingerprint database of the experimental site, we developed an Android application (Fingerprint Collector) for collecting fingerprints in the site survey stage, which is depicted in Fig. 5.5. The positioning algorithm is fully implemented on the application server using the Java Web Technologies, e.g., JSP, Servlet and the JDBC API. The frequency of location computing is set to once every 2s in the experiment.

On the experimental site, 30 reference points are selected in the accessible area, and the spacing between them is about 2 to 4 meters, as depicted in Fig. 5.5. The site survey process costs about 30 minutes. The direction of holding the mobile handheld is not specified when performing the site survey.

The evaluation is carried out in two steps. Firstly we validate the effectiveness of the system showing that the expected functions are fulfilled by the system, in particular, multiple users tracking. Secondly, we evaluate its performance on positioning accuracy. Totally 43 evaluation points are selected to exam the location error of positioning result. The performance is evaluated against the case where the traditional MH-based approach is applied. The MH-based approach is fully implemented using different architecture but the same positioning algorithm as AP-centred system.



Fig. 5.5 The Fingerprint Collector app running on the survey MH (left) and the location of reference points selected in the experiment (right)

#### 5.3.2 Effectiveness of AP-centred Architecture

The proposed system successfully fulfils the expected functionalities. Firstly, the location of an MH can be obtained without running any process on the MH. Any WiFi-enable MH appearing in the system-deployed area can be located. Secondly, the positioning of multiple MHs simultaneously is fulfilled, as depicted in Fig. 5.6. Thirdly, the fingerprint technique for positioning is applied to the AP-centred system, where a survey MH is involved in the site survey phase to assist the building of fingerprint database. Behind the functional achievement, more importantly, the system reveals the feasibility of AP-centred positioning by developing and implementing based on OpenWRT. Positioning services can be developed and running on the OpenWRT-based APs. Compared with the MH-based positioning system, AP-centred architecture is easier to be deployed and cheaper to maintain, because it doesn't need to develop positioning services for different MH platforms, such as iOS and Android.



Fig. 5.6 The Web UI displaying the location of multiple MHs (left) and console to check the RSS of each individual MH (right)

#### 5.3.3 Efficiency of AP-centred Architecture

The positioning accuracy is used to evaluate the efficiency of the proposed positioning system through the cumulative percentage of location error. The proposed AP-centred positioning system is compared with the conventional MH-based system. The CDF of location error for both systems is illustrated in Fig. 5.7. Overall the AP-centred approach shows better efficiency because it overtakes MH-based system all the way from begins to the end. The percentage of accuracy within 1 meter achieves approximately 70% in the AP-centred system, while that achieves only about 35% in the MH-based system. In 90% of positioning results, the AP-centred and MH-based systems provide accuracy of 3 meters and 5 meters respectively. Through the comparison of the location errors when the CDF is 100%, it is apparent that the maximum error distance of MH-based system is almost 7.5 meters, while the AP-centred system can decrease it to 4.5 meters. In summary, it is the witness that the AP-centred system can provide more accurate locations. We believe the reason AP-centred architecture outperforms MH-based one is that AP-centred system prevents the device diversity issue of MHs and AP's WiFi module has better performance of RSS reading than MHs.



Fig. 5.7 Comparision of CDF between AP-centred and MH-based system

Fig. 5.8 shows a more detailed view of the location errors of both AP-centred and MHbased systems in the evaluation points of two categories. The errors for the evaluation points in the centre area of the building (first 7 points) are significantly smaller compared to the evaluation points in the edge area of building (points 8 through 14). We believe that this fact is caused by the limited coverage of APs in the edge area, where only a few APs surround the mobile handheld.



Fig. 5.8 Location error distance at each evaluation point by AP-centred and MH-based system

The AP-centred indoor positioning system relaxes the limited battery capacity on MH intensively, and the basic idea is illustrated in Fig. 5.9. In the traditional MH-based approach the energy consumption consists of location computation and WiFi scanning work. The energy consumed to compute location largely depends on the complexity of positioning algorithm. The WiFi scanning process includes sending the Probe Request, receiving and processing the Probe Response from APs. In the AP-centred system, the only consumption happened in the MH is sending Probe Request and all the other process are offloading to the AP.



**Overall Energy Consumption on MH** 

Fig. 5.9 Overall energy consumption on MH in MH-based and AP-centred systems

# 5.4 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, an AP-centred architecture is proposed to fulfil the positioning of MH on the AP side successfully, in which the MH doesn't need to be involved in the positioning phase. Meanwhile, the fingerprint technique is applied in the AP- centred architecture and shows better performance than the conventional MH-based positioning using fingerprinting. In addition, the proposed system fulfils multiple-user positioning easily and addresses the energy consumption issue on the MH. The future work is to investigate the collaborative positioning between the APs to improve the site survey efficiency and positioning accuracy. The work of this chapter has been partially published in [133, 134].

# **Chapter 6**

# **Conclusion and Future Work**

In this thesis, motivated by the recent development and future prediction of indoor positioning, several contributions for indoor positioning from the aspects of the indoor map and WiFi access points are presented to improve the positioning accuracy and system efficiency. All of the proposed works have been fully implemented and evaluated in the real-world setup, which not only shows the effectiveness of the proposed work but also reveals the future direction of research in indoor positioning.

# 6.1 Conclusion

The contributions can be summarised as follows, which includes the proposed algorithms, schemes and architecture.

In Chapter 3, an AP placement algorithm using the wall information from an indoor map is introduced to enhance the accuracy of WiFi-based indoor positioning. Firstly, an indoor map system that provides a coordinate system and graphic representation is presented. The approach how the detailed map information such as walls can be explicitly expressed is illustrated. Then the data structure of how fingerprinting technique works is provided in order to support the formulation of AP placement for fingerprint-based positioning. Next, an optimisation model considering the attenuation caused by walls is provided and how the attenuation of walls can be extracted from the indoor map is discussed. Finally, the optimisation problem is solved by PSO and the effectiveness and efficiency of the proposed AP placement algorithm are measured via the accuracy of the positioning system in the real world.

In Chapter 4, the WiFi signals under modern enterprise WiFi infrastructure are analysed firstly, and the signal patterns of coexisting access points are identified, where the SSP is defined for the first time. The SSP is processed to generate Beacon APs which have higher confidence in positioning. From the aspect of spatial signal patterns, the signals' correlation with indoor pathway map is investigated to address the problem of inconsistent WiFi signal observations. The positioning schemes using SCC are used to bring the estimated location into a limited area. The use of Beacon APs and SCC in the positioning shows improvement in both positioning accuracy and efficiency.

In Chapter 5, an AP-centred architecture is proposed to fulfil the positioning of MH on the AP side successfully, in which the MH doesn't need to be involved in the positioning phase. Meanwhile, the fingerprint technique is applied in the AP-centred architecture and shows better performance than the conventional MH-based positioning using fingerprinting. Also, the proposed system fulfils multiple-user positioning easily and addresses the energy consumption issue on the MH.

From the aspect of implementation during experiments, some experience and tips are summarised. In the implementation of positioning application on Android platform, the information about surrounding detected APs are acquired by *android.net.wifi.ScanResult* class from WiFi service of Android. Each *ScanResult* is binding to a specific AP. From Android API level 17, the timestamp when the *ScanResult* was last seen is added to the *ScanResult*, which enables more fine tuning of RSS observations. In our work, the timestamp is always checked to ensure the RSS observed is latest or can be mapped to the previous location based on moving trajectory. In addition, the frequency to obtain the latest *ScanResult* is not controlled by the user while depending on the performance of WiFi card. In our system implementation, a *BroadcastReceiver* is listening on the *ScanResultsAvailableAction* of WifiManager to receive the *ScanResult*.

## 6.2 Future Work

In this thesis, several works are proposed and evaluated through experiments to show its effectiveness, but there are still some aspects which are not considered in this thesis but worth considering in the future work to continue improving the performance of positioning system. Some of the specific future works are discussed as follows.

For the proposed optimisation model of AP placement, the wall detection process costs most of the computing time in the propagation model. Thus it takes a relatively long time for the PSO to converge. The efficiency of the proposed algorithm can be enhanced in the future work. In addition, we assume the thickness of walls is the same, and the attenuation factor for the different material of the wall is the same as well. In real scenarios, the construction material of walls is various in a large building. Hence more properties of objects in the indoor map are necessary to be added in the future work. Now the APs are placed on the floor for ease of deployment, in which the signal coverage is worse than that placing on the ceiling. In the future, the APs' vertical deployment in the experiments needs to be considered. Apart from AP placement, a map-assisted hybrid site survey approach is also feasible to make the site survey work less time-consuming and laborious than conventional site survey. On the other hand, in the AP-centred architecture, it is possible to improve the site survey efficiency and positioning accuracy through investigating the collaborative positioning scheme between the APs.

This thesis is just a brick we have contributed to the field of indoor positioning and the scientific community. Several future research initiatives are suggested as follows.

Firstly, for most positioning systems, their work can be divided into modules including signal collection, signal processing, signal storage and location estimation. Typically researchers are investigating the indoor positioning problem from a specific aspect, i.e., they won't contribute to all of the modules mentioned above. But in order to evaluate their proposed work, they need to design and implement all of the modules, which not only leads to an unnecessarily time-consuming task but also causes inconsistency and uncertainty for evaluation. Thus, to facilitate the effective research of indoor positioning and standard of evaluation, investigating the positioning frameworks (which also includes protocols and architectures) that can work with various signals and different algorithms is a direction of research in indoor positioning.

Secondly, unlike the outdoor positioning in which the working environment is consistent, the indoor environment is very complicated and can be diverse, so the technology and technique for positioning need to aim at specific environment and application scenarios. We believe a generic and universal indoor positioning system won't exist, even though it exists it needs support multiple signals and different scenarios to achieve seamless switching, that's also the reason of previous suggestion to investigate positioning framework. Therefore, the research work of indoor positioning should be more targeted to specific application scenarios. For example, we believe the WiFi-based indoor positioning is more suitable for scenarios which don't require very high accuracy, so it's more sensible to investigate more on the deployment efficiency of WiFi-based positioning.

Finally, research on the intelligent algorithms such as pattern recognition and machine learning in the field of indoor positioning can be interesting and potentially helpful, because the indoor environment is very complex and dynamic, which leads to lots of uncertainties that cannot be addressed by pre-defined schemes.

# References

- [1] J. Hightower and G. Borriello, "Location systems for ubiquitous computing," *Computer*, vol. 34, pp. 57–66, Aug 2001.
- [2] A. Yassin, Y. Nasser, M. Awad, A. Al-Dubai, R. Liu, C. Yuen, R. Raulefs, and E. Aboutanios, "Recent advances in indoor localization: A survey on theoretical approaches and applications," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 19, pp. 1327–1346, Secondquarter 2017.
- [3] A. Gluhak, S. Krco, M. Nati, D. Pfisterer, N. Mitton, and T. Razafindralambo, "A survey on facilities for experimental internet of things research," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 49, pp. 58–67, November 2011.
- [4] A. Al-Fuqaha, M. Guizani, M. Mohammadi, M. Aledhari, and M. Ayyash, "Internet of things: A survey on enabling technologies, protocols, and applications," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 17, pp. 2347–2376, Fourthquarter 2015.
- [5] C. Perera, A. Zaslavsky, P. Christen, and D. Georgakopoulos, "Context aware computing for the internet of things: A survey," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 16, pp. 414–454, First 2014.
- [6] Z. Yin, C. Wu, Z. Yang, and Y. Liu, "Peer-to-peer indoor navigation using smartphones," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 35, pp. 1141–1153, May 2017.
- [7] D. Han, S. Jung, M. Lee, and G. Yoon, "Building a practical wi-fi-based indoor navigation system," *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, vol. 13, pp. 72–79, Apr 2014.
- [8] T. Garcia-Valverde, A. Garcia-Sola, H. Hagras, J. A. Dooley, V. Callaghan, and J. A. Botia, "A fuzzy logic-based system for indoor localization using wifi in ambient intelligent environments," *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems*, vol. 21, pp. 702–718, Aug 2013.
- [9] J. Ryoo, H. Kim, and S. R. Das, "Geo-fencing: Geographical-fencing based energyaware proactive framework for mobile devices," in 2012 IEEE 20th International Workshop on Quality of Service, pp. 1–9, June 2012.
- [10] D. Macagnano, G. Destino, and G. Abreu, "Indoor positioning: A key enabling technology for iot applications," in 2014 IEEE World Forum on Internet of Things (WF-IoT), pp. 117–118, March 2014.

- [11] P. Bahl and V. Padmanabhan, "Radar: an in-building rf-based user location and tracking system," in INFOCOM 2000. Nineteenth Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies. Proceedings. IEEE, vol. 2, pp. 775– 784 vol.2, 2000.
- [12] Y. Wang, X. Yang, Y. Zhao, Y. Liu, and L. Cuthbert, "Bluetooth positioning using rssi and triangulation methods," in 2013 IEEE 10th Consumer Communications and Networking Conference (CCNC), pp. 837–842, Jan 2013.
- [13] B. Kempke, P. Pannuto, and P. Dutta, "Harmonia: Wideband spreading for accurate indoor rf localization," in *Proceedings of the 1st ACM Workshop on Hot Topics in Wireless*, HotWireless '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 19–24, ACM, 2014.
- [14] J. Wang and D. Katabi, "Dude, where's my card?: Rfid positioning that works with multipath and non-line of sight," in *Proceedings of the ACM SIGCOMM 2013 Conference on SIGCOMM*, SIGCOMM '13, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 51–62, ACM, 2013.
- [15] L. M. Ni, Y. Liu, Y. C. Lau, and A. P. Patil, "Landmarc: indoor location sensing using active rfid," in *Proceedings of the First IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications*, 2003. (*PerCom 2003*)., pp. 407–415, March 2003.
- [16] B. Wagner and D. Timmermann, "Adaptive clustering for device free user positioning utilizing passive rfid," in *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing Adjunct Publication*, UbiComp '13 Adjunct, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 499–508, ACM, 2013.
- [17] Z. Yang, C. Wu, Z. Zhou, X. Zhang, X. Wang, and Y. Liu, "Mobility increases localizability: A survey on wireless indoor localization using inertial sensors," ACM Comput. Surv., vol. 47, pp. 54:1–54:34, Apr. 2015.
- [18] R. Harle, "A survey of indoor inertial positioning systems for pedestrians," *Communications Surveys Tutorials, IEEE*, vol. 15, pp. 1281–1293, Third 2013.
- [19] W. Huang, Y. Xiong, X. Y. Li, H. Lin, X. Mao, P. Yang, and Y. Liu, "Shake and walk: Acoustic direction finding and fine-grained indoor localization using smartphones," in *IEEE INFOCOM 2014 - IEEE Conference on Computer Communications*, pp. 370– 378, April 2014.
- [20] Z. Sun, A. Purohit, K. Chen, S. Pan, T. Pering, and P. Zhang, "Pandaa: Physical arrangement detection of networked devices through ambient-sound awareness," in *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '11, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 425–434, ACM, 2011.
- [21] Z. Yang, Z. Wang, J. Zhang, C. Huang, and Q. Zhang, "Wearables can afford: Lightweight indoor positioning with visible light," in *Proceedings of the 13th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '15, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 317–330, ACM, 2015.

- [22] Y.-S. Kuo, P. Pannuto, K.-J. Hsiao, and P. Dutta, "Luxapose: Indoor positioning with mobile phones and visible light," in *Proceedings of the 20th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 447–458, ACM, 2014.
- [23] J. Chung, M. Donahoe, C. Schmandt, I.-J. Kim, P. Razavai, and M. Wiseman, "Indoor location sensing using geo-magnetism," in *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '11, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 141–154, ACM, 2011.
- [24] H. Xie, T. Gu, X. Tao, H. Ye, and J. Lv, "Maloc: A practical magnetic fingerprinting approach to indoor localization using smartphones," in *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 243–253, ACM, 2014.
- [25] H. Liu, J. Yang, S. Sidhom, Y. Wang, Y. Chen, and F. Ye, "Accurate wifi based localization for smartphones using peer assistance," *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, vol. 13, pp. 2199–2214, Oct 2014.
- [26] G. Sun, J. Chen, W. Guo, and K. J. R. Liu, "Signal processing techniques in networkaided positioning: a survey of state-of-the-art positioning designs," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol. 22, pp. 12–23, July 2005.
- [27] S. He, S. H. G. Chan, L. Yu, and N. Liu, "Fusing noisy fingerprints with distance bounds for indoor localization," in 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Communications (INFOCOM), pp. 2506–2514, April 2015.
- [28] C. Feng, W. S. A. Au, S. Valaee, and Z. Tan, "Compressive sensing based positioning using rss of wlan access points," in 2010 Proceedings IEEE INFOCOM, pp. 1–9, March 2010.
- [29] C. Feng, W. S. A. Au, S. Valaee, and Z. Tan, "Received-signal-strength-based indoor positioning using compressive sensing," *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, vol. 11, pp. 1983–1993, Dec 2012.
- [30] S. He and S. H. G. Chan, "Wi-fi fingerprint-based indoor positioning: Recent advances and comparisons," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 18, pp. 466–490, Firstquarter 2016.
- [31] H. Liu, H. Darabi, P. Banerjee, and J. Liu, "Survey of wireless indoor positioning techniques and systems," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part* C (Applications and Reviews), vol. 37, pp. 1067–1080, Nov 2007.
- [32] J.-Y. Lin, B.-K. Yang, T. A. Do, and H.-C. Chen, "The Accuracy Enhancement of GPS Track in Google Map," in 2013 Eighth International Conference on Broadband and Wireless Computing, Communication and Applications, pp. 524–527, IEEE, Oct. 2013.
- [33] X. Qu, M. Sun, C. Xu, J. Li, K. Liu, J. Xia, Q. Huang, C. Yang, M. Bambacus, Y. Xu, and D. Fay, "A spatial web service client based on Microsoft Bing Maps," in 2011 19th International Conference on Geoinformatics, pp. 1–5, IEEE, June 2011.

- [34] M. R. Rifat, S. Moutushy, S. Ishtiaque Ahmed, and H. Shahid Ferdous, "Location based Information System using OpenStreetMap," in 2011 IEEE Student Conference on Research and Development, pp. 397–402, IEEE, Dec. 2011.
- [35] X. Gong and S. Manoharan, "On predicting vehicle tracks," in *Proceedings of 2011 IEEE Pacific Rim Conference on Communications, Computers and Signal Processing*, pp. 31–36, Aug 2011.
- [36] L.-H. Chen, E.-K. Wu, M.-H. Jin, and G.-H. Chen, "Homogeneous features utilization to address the device heterogeneity problem in fingerprint localization," *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, vol. 14, pp. 998–1005, April 2014.
- [37] R. Hansen, R. Wind, C. S. Jensen, and B. Thomsen, "Algorithmic strategies for adapting to environmental changes in 802.11 location fingerprinting," in 2010 International Conference on Indoor Positioning and Indoor Navigation, pp. 1–10, Sept 2010.
- [38] C. Beder and M. Klepal, "Fingerprinting based localisation revisited: A rigorous approach for comparing rssi measurements coping with missed access points and differing antenna attenuations," in *Indoor Positioning and Indoor Navigation (IPIN)*, 2012 International Conference on, pp. 1–7, Nov 2012.
- [39] L. Li, G. Shen, C. Zhao, T. Moscibroda, J.-H. Lin, and F. Zhao, "Experiencing and handling the diversity in data density and environmental locality in an indoor positioning service," in *Proceedings of the 20th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 459– 470, ACM, 2014.
- [40] Y. Xie, Z. Li, and M. Li, "Precise power delay profiling with commodity wifi," in Proceedings of the 21st Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking, MobiCom '15, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 53–64, ACM, 2015.
- [41] C. Yang and H. rong Shao, "Wifi-based indoor positioning," Communications Magazine, IEEE, vol. 53, pp. 150–157, March 2015.
- [42] T. King, S. Kopf, T. Haenselmann, C. Lubberger, and W. Effelsberg, "Compass: A probabilistic indoor positioning system based on 802.11 and digital compasses," in *Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Wireless Network Testbeds, Experimental Evaluation & Characterization*, WiNTECH '06, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 34–40, ACM, 2006.
- [43] Y. Gao, J. Niu, R. Zhou, and G. Xing, "Zifind: Exploiting cross-technology interference signatures for energy-efficient indoor localization," in 2013 Proceedings IEEE INFOCOM, pp. 2940–2948, April 2013.
- [44] A. Konstantinidis, G. Nikolaides, G. Chatzimilioudis, G. Evagorou, D. Zeinalipour-Yazti, and P. K. Chrysanthis, "Radio map prefetching for indoor navigation in intermittently connected wi-fi networks," in 2015 16th IEEE International Conference on Mobile Data Management, vol. 1, pp. 34–43, June 2015.
- [45] D. Lymberopoulos, J. Liu, X. Yang, R. R. Choudhury, S. Sen, and V. Handziski, "Microsoft indoor localization competition: Experiences and lessons learned," *GetMobile: Mobile Comp. and Comm.*, vol. 18, pp. 24–31, Jan. 2015.

- [46] C. Wu, Z. Yang, Y. Liu, and W. Xi, "Will: Wireless indoor localization without site survey," *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, vol. 24, pp. 839–848, April 2013.
- [47] V. Honkavirta, T. Perala, S. Ali-Loytty, and R. Piche, "A comparative survey of wlan location fingerprinting methods," in 2009 6th Workshop on Positioning, Navigation and Communication, pp. 243–251, March 2009.
- [48] D. Lymberopoulos, J. Liu, X. Yang, R. R. Choudhury, V. Handziski, and S. Sen, "A realistic evaluation and comparison of indoor location technologies: Experiences and lessons learned," in *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Information Processing in Sensor Networks*, IPSN '15, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 178–189, ACM, 2015.
- [49] Z. Deng, Y. Yu, X. Yuan, N. Wan, and L. Yang, "Situation and development tendency of indoor positioning," *China Communications*, vol. 10, pp. 42–55, March 2013.
- [50] M. A. Youssef, A. Agrawala, and A. U. Shankar, "Wlan location determination via clustering and probability distributions," in *Proceedings of the First IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications*, PERCOM '03, (Washington, DC, USA), pp. 143–, IEEE Computer Society, 2003.
- [51] Y. Gu, A. Lo, and I. Niemegeers, "A survey of indoor positioning systems for wireless personal networks," *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, vol. 11, pp. 13–32, First 2009.
- [52] B. T. Fang, "Simple solutions for hyperbolic and related position fixes," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 748–753, 1990.
- [53] E. O. Ojakominor and T. F. Lai, "Statistical (radio) path loss modelling: For rf propagations within localized indoor and outdoor environments of the academic building of inti university college (laureate international universities)," *International Journal of Electrical, Computer, Energetic, Electronic and Communication Engineering*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 367 – 389, 2009.
- [54] J. Seybold, Introduction to RF Propagation. Wiley, 2005.
- [55] T.-K. Dao, T.-T. Pham, and E. Castelli, "A Robust WLAN Positioning System Based on Probabilistic Propagation Model," 2013 9th International Conference on Intelligent Environments, pp. 24–29, July 2013.
- [56] K. Chintalapudi, A. Padmanabha Iyer, and V. N. Padmanabhan, "Indoor localization without the pain," in *Proceedings of the Sixteenth Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '10, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 173– 184, ACM, 2010.
- [57] H. Liu, Y. Gan, J. Yang, S. Sidhom, Y. Wang, Y. Chen, and F. Ye, "Push the limit of wifi based localization for smartphones," in *Proceedings of the 18th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, Mobicom '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 305–316, ACM, 2012.

- [58] M. Youssef and A. Agrawala, "The horus wlan location determination system," in Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services, MobiSys '05, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 205–218, ACM, 2005.
- [59] M. Youssef, M. Mah, and A. Agrawala, "Challenges: Device-free passive localization for wireless environments," in *Proceedings of the 13th Annual ACM International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '07, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 222–229, ACM, 2007.
- [60] D. Halperin, W. Hu, A. Sheth, and D. Wetherall, "Predictable 802.11 packet delivery from wireless channel measurements," *SIGCOMM Comput. Commun. Rev.*, vol. 41, pp. –, Aug. 2010.
- [61] K. Wu, J. Xiao, Y. Yi, M. Gao, and L. M. Ni, "Fila: Fine-grained indoor localization," in 2012 Proceedings IEEE INFOCOM, pp. 2210–2218, March 2012.
- [62] J. Xiong and K. Jamieson, "Arraytrack: A fine-grained indoor location system," in Presented as part of the 10th USENIX Symposium on Networked Systems Design and Implementation (NSDI 13), (Lombard, IL), pp. 71–84, USENIX, 2013.
- [63] S. Kumar, S. Gil, D. Katabi, and D. Rus, "Accurate indoor localization with zero start-up cost," in *Proceedings of the 20th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 483–494, ACM, 2014.
- [64] K. Wu, J. Xiao, Y. Yi, D. Chen, X. Luo, and L. M. Ni, "Csi-based indoor localization," *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, vol. 24, pp. 1300–1309, July 2013.
- [65] M. Kotaru, K. Joshi, D. Bharadia, and S. Katti, "Spotfi: Decimeter level localization using wifi," in *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM Conference on Special Interest Group on Data Communication*, SIGCOMM '15, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 269–282, ACM, 2015.
- [66] N. I. Sarkar and E. Lo, "Performance studies of 802.11g for various AP configuration and placement," in *ISCI 2011 - 2011 IEEE Symposium on Computers and Informatics*, pp. 29–34, 2011.
- [67] Y. Lee, K. Kim, and Y. Choi, "Optimization of ap placement and channel assignment in wireless lans," in 27th Annual IEEE Conference on Local Computer Networks, 2002. Proceedings. LCN 2002., pp. 831–836, Nov 2002.
- [68] X. Ling and K. L. Yeung, "Joint access point placement and channel assignment for 802.11 wireless lans," *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, vol. 5, pp. 2705–2711, Oct 2006.
- [69] T. Vanhatupa, M. Hannikainen, and T. D. Hamalainen, "Genetic algorithm to optimize node placement and configuration for wlan planning," in 2007 4th International Symposium on Wireless Communication Systems, pp. 612–616, Oct 2007.
- [70] E. Amaldi, A. Capone, M. Cesana, F. Malucelli, and F. Palazzo, "WLAN coverage planning: optimization models and algorithms," 2004 IEEE 59th Vehicular Technology Conference. VTC 2004-Spring (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37514), vol. 4, 2004.
- [71] S. Bosio, A. Capone, and M. Cesana, "Radio planning of wireless local area networks," *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1414–1427, 2007.
- [72] J. Kim, N. O. Song, B. H. Jung, H. Leem, and D. K. Sung, "Placement of WiFi access points for efficient WiFi offloading in an overlay network," in *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC*, pp. 3066– 3070, 2013.
- [73] S. Kouhbor, J. Ugon, A. Rubinov, A. Kruger, and M. Mammadov, "Coverage in WLAN with Minimum Number of Access Points," 2006 IEEE 63rd Vehicular Technology Conference, vol. 3, 2006.
- [74] O. Baala, Y. Zheng, and A. Caminada, "The impact of AP placement in WLAN-based indoor positioning system," in *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Networks, ICN 2009*, pp. 12–17, 2009.
- [75] A. Eisenblätter, H. F. Geerdes, and I. Siomina, "Integrated access point placement and channel assignment for wireless LANs in an indoor office environment," in 2007 IEEE International Symposium on a World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks, WOWMOM, 2007.
- [76] Y. Zhao, H. Zhou, and M. Li, "Indoor access points location optimization using differential evolution," in 2008 International Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering, vol. 1, pp. 382–385, Dec 2008.
- [77] G. Chen, Y. Zhang, F. Luan, L. Xiao, X. Zhang, and S. Zhou, "Optimization of ap placement in indoor fingerprint positioning," in 2013 International Conference on ICT Convergence (ICTC), pp. 98–100, Oct 2013.
- [78] C. Sharma, Y. F. Wong, W. S. Soh, and W. C. Wong, "Access point placement for fingerprint-based localization," in 2010 IEEE International Conference on Communication Systems, pp. 238–243, Nov 2010.
- [79] Q. Chen, B. Wang, X. Deng, Y. Mo, and L. T. Yang, "Placement of access points for indoor wireless coverage and fingerprint-based localization," in 2013 IEEE 10th International Conference on High Performance Computing and Communications 2013 IEEE International Conference on Embedded and Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 2253– 2257, Nov 2013.
- [80] S. H. Fang and T. N. Lin, "A novel access point placement approach for wlan-based location systems," in 2010 IEEE Wireless Communication and Networking Conference, pp. 1–4, April 2010.
- [81] M. Ficco, C. Esposito, and A. Napolitano, "Calibrating Indoor Positioning Systems with Low Efforts," *IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing*, vol. 13, pp. 737–751, Apr. 2014.

- [82] H. Wang, S. Sen, A. Elgohary, M. Farid, M. Youssef, and R. R. Choudhury, "No need to war-drive: Unsupervised indoor localization," in *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 197–210, ACM, 2012.
- [83] Z. Xiao, H. Wen, A. Markham, and N. Trigoni, "Lightweight map matching for indoor localisation using conditional random fields," in *IPSN-14 Proceedings of the 13th International Symposium on Information Processing in Sensor Networks*, pp. 131–142, April 2014.
- [84] Y. Jiang, Y. Xiang, X. Pan, K. Li, Q. Lv, R. P. Dick, L. Shang, and M. Hannigan, "Hallway based automatic indoor floorplan construction using room fingerprints," in *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '13, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 315–324, ACM, 2013.
- [85] S. He and S. H. G. Chan, "Sectjunction: Wi-fi indoor localization based on junction of signal sectors," in 2014 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pp. 2605–2610, June 2014.
- [86] Y. Kim, H. Shin, Y. Chon, and H. Cha, "Smartphone-based wi-fi tracking system exploiting the rss peak to overcome the rss variance problem," *Pervasive Mob. Comput.*, vol. 9, pp. 406–420, June 2013.
- [87] G. Shen, Z. Chen, P. Zhang, T. Moscibroda, and Y. Zhang, "Walkie-markie: Indoor pathway mapping made easy," in *Proceedings of the 10th USENIX Conference on Networked Systems Design and Implementation*, nsdi'13, (Berkeley, CA, USA), pp. 85– 98, USENIX Association, 2013.
- [88] J. Niu, B. Lu, L. Cheng, Y. Gu, and L. Shu, "ZiLoc: Energy Efficient WiFi Fingerprintbased Localization with Low-Power Radio," *faculty.sutd.edu.sg*, pp. 4558–4563, 2013.
- [89] I. Constandache, S. Gaonkar, M. Sayler, R. Choudhury, and L. Cox, "Enloc: Energyefficient localization for mobile phones," in *INFOCOM 2009, IEEE*, pp. 2716–2720, April 2009.
- [90] Z. Zhuang, K.-H. Kim, and J. P. Singh, "Improving energy efficiency of location sensing on smartphones," in *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '10, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 315–330, ACM, 2010.
- [91] I. Bisio, F. Lavagetto, M. Marchese, and A. Sciarrone, "Energy efficient wifi-based fingerprinting for indoor positioning with smartphones," in *Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM)*, 2013 IEEE, pp. 4639–4643, Dec 2013.
- [92] L. Zhang, J. Liu, and H. Jiang, "Energy-efficient location tracking with smartphones for IoT," in *2012 IEEE Sensors*, pp. 1–4, IEEE, Oct. 2012.
- [93] O. Bebek, M. A. Suster, S. Rajgopal, M. J. Fu, X. Huang, M. C. Cavusoglu, D. J. Young, M. Mehregany, A. J. van den Bogert, and C. H. Mastrangelo, "Personal navigation via high-resolution gait-corrected inertial measurement units," *IEEE Transactions* on Instrumentation and Measurement, vol. 59, pp. 3018–3027, Nov 2010.

- [94] N. Roy, H. Wang, and R. Roy Choudhury, "I am a smartphone and i can tell my user's walking direction," in *Proceedings of the 12th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services*, MobiSys '14, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 329–342, ACM, 2014.
- [95] A. Brajdic and R. Harle, "Walk detection and step counting on unconstrained smartphones," in *Proceedings of the 2013 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '13, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 225–234, ACM, 2013.
- [96] J. Qian, J. Ma, R. Ying, and P. Liu, *RPNOS: Reliable Pedestrian Navigation on a Smartphone*, pp. 188–199. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [97] F. Li, C. Zhao, G. Ding, J. Gong, C. Liu, and F. Zhao, "A reliable and accurate indoor localization method using phone inertial sensors," in *Proceedings of the 2012 ACM Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 421–430, ACM, 2012.
- [98] S. He, S.-H. G. Chan, L. Yu, and N. Liu, "Calibration-free fusion of step counter and wireless fingerprints for indoor localization," in *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing*, UbiComp '15, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 897–908, ACM, 2015.
- [99] A. Naguib, P. Pakzad, R. Palanki, S. Poduri, and Y. Chen, "Scalable and accurate indoor positioning on mobile devices," in *International Conference on Indoor Positioning* and Indoor Navigation, pp. 1–10, Oct 2013.
- [100] D. Li, B. Zhang, and C. Li, "A feature-scaling-based k-nearest neighbor algorithm for indoor positioning systems," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. 3, pp. 590–597, Aug 2016.
- [101] R. Nandakumar, K. K. Chintalapudi, and V. N. Padmanabhan, "Centaur: Locating devices in an office environment," in *Proceedings of the 18th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, Mobicom '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 281–292, ACM, 2012.
- [102] S. He, S. H. G. Chan, L. Yu, and N. Liu, "Fusing noisy fingerprints with distance bounds for indoor localization," in 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Communications (INFOCOM), pp. 2506–2514, April 2015.
- [103] P. Bolliger, "Redpin adaptive, zero-configuration indoor localization through user collaboration," in *Proceedings of the First ACM International Workshop on Mobile Entity Localization and Tracking in GPS-less Environments*, MELT '08, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 55–60, ACM, 2008.
- [104] Y. Luo, Y. P. Chen, and O. Hoeber, "Wi-fi-based indoor positioning using humancentric collaborative feedback," in 2011 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pp. 1–6, June 2011.
- [105] C. Wu, Z. Yang, Y. Liu, and W. Xi, "Will: Wireless indoor localization without site survey," in 2012 Proceedings IEEE INFOCOM, pp. 64–72, March 2012.

- [106] C. Wu, Z. Yang, and Y. Liu, "Smartphones based crowdsourcing for indoor localization," *Mobile Computing, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 14, pp. 444–457, Feb 2015.
- [107] C. Luo, H. Hong, and M. C. Chan, "Piloc: A self-calibrating participatory indoor localization system," in *IPSN-14 Proceedings of the 13th International Symposium on Information Processing in Sensor Networks*, pp. 143–153, April 2014.
- [108] Z. Yang, C. Wu, and Y. Liu, "Locating in fingerprint space: Wireless indoor localization with little human intervention," in *Proceedings of the 18th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, Mobicom '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 269–280, ACM, 2012.
- [109] A. Rai, K. K. Chintalapudi, V. N. Padmanabhan, and R. Sen, "Zee: Zero-effort crowdsourcing for indoor localization," in *Proceedings of the 18th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, Mobicom '12, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 293–304, ACM, 2012.
- [110] K. Li, J. Bigham, E. L. Bodanese, and L. Tokarchuk, "Location Estimation in Large Indoor Multi-floor Buildings using Hybrid Networks," in 2013 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC) : Networks, pp. 2137–2142, 2013.
- [111] M. M. Atia, M. Korenberg, and A. Noureldin, "A consistent zero-configuration gpslike indoor positioning system based on signal strength in ieee 802.11 networks," in *Proceedings of the 2012 IEEE/ION Position, Location and Navigation Symposium*, pp. 1068–1073, April 2012.
- [112] R. K. Harle and A. Hopper, "Deploying and evaluating a location-aware system," in Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services, MobiSys '05, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 219–232, ACM, 2005.
- [113] A. Haeberlen, E. Flannery, A. M. Ladd, A. Rudys, D. S. Wallach, and L. E. Kavraki, "Practical robust localization over large-scale 802.11 wireless networks," in *Proceedings of the 10th Annual International Conference on Mobile Computing and Networking*, MobiCom '04, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 70–84, ACM, 2004.
- [114] W. Dai, T. Luo, and J. Shen, "Automatic image vectorization using superpixels and random walkers," in 2013 6th International Congress on Image and Signal Processing (CISP), vol. 2, pp. 922–926, Dec 2013.
- [115] Z. R. Peng and C. Zhang, "The roles of geography markup language (GML), scalable vector graphics (SVG), and Web feature service (WFS) specifications in the development of Internet geographic information systems (GIS)," *Journal of Geographical Systems*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 95–116, 2004.
- [116] H. J. Chung, M. Kim, C. H. Park, J. Kim, and J. H. Kim, "ArrayXPath: Mapping and visualizing microarray gene-expression data with integrated biological pathway resources using Scalable Vector Graphics," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 32, no. 32(Web Server issue), pp. W460–W464, 2004.

- [117] R. Kamadjeu and H. Tolentino, "Web-based public health geographic information systems for resources-constrained environment using scalable vector graphics technology: a proof of concept applied to the expanded program on immunization data," *International Journal of Health Geographics*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 24, 2006.
- [118] A. G. M. Lima and L. F. Menezes, "Motley-keenan model adjusted to the thickness of the wall," in SBMO/IEEE MTT-S International Conference on Microwave and Optoelectronics, 2005., pp. 180–182, July 2005.
- [119] I. Cisco Systems, "Best practices-location-aware wlan design considerations," in Wi-Fi Location-Based Services 4.1 Design Guide, San Jose, CA: Americas Headquarters, Cisco Systems, Inc, 2008.
- [120] M. AlRashidi and M. El-Hawary, "A Survey of Particle Swarm Optimization Applications in Electric Power Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 13, pp. 913–918, Aug. 2009.
- [121] R. V. Kulkarni and G. K. Venayagamoorthy, "Particle Swarm Optimization in Wireless-Sensor Networks: A Brief Survey," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C (Applications and Reviews)*, vol. 41, pp. 262–267, Mar. 2011.
- [122] Z. Yangyang, J. Chunlin, Y. Ping, L. Manlin, W. Chaojin, and W. Guangxing, "Particle swarm optimization for base station placement in mobile communication," in *IEEE International Conference on Networking, Sensing and Control, 2004*, vol. 1, pp. 428– 432 Vol.1, March 2004.
- [123] Mei-Ping Song and Guo-chang Gu, "Research on particle swarm optimization: a review," in *Proceedings of 2004 International Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics (IEEE Cat. No.04EX826)*, vol. 4, pp. 2236–2241, IEEE, 2004.
- [124] J. Blondin, "Particle swarm optimization: A tutorial," 2009.
- [125] X. Du and K. Yang, "A map-assisted wifi ap placement algorithm enabling mobile device's indoor positioning," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 11, pp. 1467–1475, Sept 2017.
- [126] J. Shi, L. Meng, A. Striegel, C. Qiao, D. Koutsonikolas, and G. Challen, "A walk on the client side: Monitoring enterprise wifi networks using smartphone channel scans," in *IEEE INFOCOM 2016 - The 35th Annual IEEE International Conference* on Computer Communications, pp. 1–9, April 2016.
- [127] E. Martin, O. Vinyals, G. Friedland, and R. Bajcsy, "Precise indoor localization using smart phones," in *Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Multimedia*, MM '10, (New York, NY, USA), pp. 787–790, ACM, 2010.
- [128] X. Du, K. Yang, X. Lu, and X. Wei, "An indoor positioning approach using sibling signal patterns in enterprise wifi infrastructure," in 2017 13th International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC), pp. 1728–1733, June 2017.

- [129] X. Du, K. Yang, and D. Zhou, "Mapsense: Mitigating inconsistent wifi signals using signal patterns and pathway map for indoor positioning," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2018.
- [130] N. Abbas, Y. Zhang, A. Taherkordi, and T. Skeie, "Mobile edge computing: A survey," *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2017.
- [131] "Ieee standard for information technology-telecommunications and information exchange between systems local and metropolitan area networks-specific requirements part 11: Wireless lan medium access control (mac) and physical layer (phy) specifications," *IEEE Std 802.11-2012 (Revision of IEEE Std 802.11-2007)*, pp. 1–2793, March 2012.
- [132] M. S. Gast, 802.11 Wireless Networks: The Definitive Guide, Second Edition. O'Reilly Media, Inc., 2005.
- [133] X. Du, J. Wu, K. Yang, and L. Wang, "An ap-centred indoor positioning system combining fingerprint technique," in 2016 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM), pp. 1–6, Dec 2016.
- [134] L. Zhang, K. Wang, X. Du, and K. Yang, "Optimal task allocation in near-far computing enhanced c-ran for wireless big data processing," *IEEE Wireless Communications Magazine*, vol. PP, no. NN, pp. 1–11, 2017.

## Appendix A

## **List of Related Publications**

- X. Du, K. Yang, "A Map-Assisted WiFi AP Placement Algorithm Enabling Mobile Device's Indoor Positioning," in *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 1467-1475, Sept. 2017.
- X. Du, J. Wu, K. Yang and L. Wang, "An AP-Centred Indoor Positioning System Combining Fingerprint Technique," 2016 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM), Washington, DC, 2016, pp. 1-6.
- X. Du, K. Yang, X. Lu and X. Wei, "An indoor positioning approach using sibling signal patterns in enterprise WiFi infrastructure," 2017 13th International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference (IWCMC), Valencia, 2017, pp. 1728-1733.
- X. Du, K. Yang and D. Zhou, "MapSense: Mitigating Inconsistent WiFi Signals using Signal Patterns and Pathway Map for Indoor Positioning," in *IEEE Internet Of Things Journal*, 2017. vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1-1.
- X. Du, K. Yang, I. Bisio, F. Lavagetto and A. Sciarrone, "An AP-centred Smart Probabilistic Fingerprint System for Indoor Positioning," in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), 2018. Accepted.